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Strategic Report 

The Directors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2015. 

1. Business Review 

We continued to grow in 2015 and delivered profit before tax in line with our plans, despite more challenging 
conditions in some of our markets. We kept our focus on technology and operational excellence which 
underpin our position as leaders in our markets, at the same time we took some significant steps forward in 
pursuit of our strategy.  
 
Acquisition of Fokker 

The most significant development was the acquisition of the Dutch aerospace company Fokker Technologies 
Group B.V. (‘Fokker’) in October 2015. The business brings excellent technology which complements our 
own in aerostructures and gives us capability in new areas such as electrical wiring and landing gear. Fokker 
has an impressive facility in China that will help boost GKN Aerospace’s activity in this important region, and 
it has good positions on successful programmes such as the Lockheed Martin F-35 and the Airbus A350 
platforms where output is growing. 
 
Fokker’s strength is based on the quality of its people who are an excellent addition to the GKN team.  
 
Performance against our markets 
Our strategy is aimed at outgrowing our markets on an organic basis, and in 2015 GKN Driveline and GKN 
Powder Metallurgy achieved that, overcoming difficult market conditions in China and Brazil through strong 
growth in Europe. GKN Driveline’s sales grew by 5% organically, comfortably ahead of the growth in global 
car production (1.4%), with margins moving slightly ahead. 
 
GKN Aerospace is in a period of transition, with some of our newer commercial programmes ramping up and 
mature military programmes winding down. In 2015, commercial aircraft sales increased by 6% while military 
sales declined 9%. Overall, sales in GKN Aerospace increased 2% organically. The switch from mature to 
new programmes put margins under pressure, and it took concerted management effort together with some 
help from one-off items to hold profits broadly level with 2014.  
 
GKN Powder Metallurgy had a very good year, growing profits by 6% organically and taking its margin to 
12%. Through their operational excellence and skill in developing hard to make ‘Design for PM’ components, 
the team succeeded in securing a record level of new orders. 
 
GKN Land Systems gave a creditable performance, with organic sales down by 6% in very tough market 
conditions. The team worked hard to address falling sales by cutting costs, and the results reflect the impact 
of an £11 million restructuring charge. 
 
Financial summary 
We measure long-term financial success using three key metrics: growth above market; margin improvement 
within an 8% to 10% range; and return on invested capital (ROIC) at around 20% before tax, delivering 
increasing cash flow and dividend growth. 
 
Against that framework our performance in 2015 was respectable. In summary, and ignoring the two months’ 
impact of Fokker: 
 

 Group sales grew organically by 2%, with growth above the market in both automotive businesses. GKN 
Aerospace’s growth was slightly below the overall market. GKN Land Systems, with its differing markets, is 
hard to measure, but its results certainly compare favourably with most of its peers. 

 Group margin held steady at 9.2% in spite of the headwind from lower profits in GKN Land Systems. 

 ROIC moved up slightly, heading towards the 20% target. 

 Cash flow and dividend both increased.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 

1. Business Review (continued) 

Strategic progress 
Avoiding accidents at work is a top priority for all GKN employees. We had a strong performance in 2015, as 
shown in the KPIs set out in the annual report of GKN plc, however we will look for even further improvement in 
2016.  
 
Being the best at what we do is part of our philosophy. Harnessing new technology is an important part of our aim 
to move ahead of our competitors and consolidate our market-leading positions. 
 
As well as new aerospace technology gained through the addition of Fokker, during the year we acquired Sheets 
Manufacturing Inc. which provides us with the opportunity to manufacture innovative lip skin products on an 
industrial scale. The lip skin technology offers weight reduction and improved aerodynamics, and will be used on 
the Boeing 737 MAX and other Boeing aircraft. 
 
Additive manufacturing (AM), or the 3D printing of metallic components, is increasingly seen as an important new 
process for most of our markets. We are developing our position in AM and were pleased that GKN Aerospace 
proved successful in winning its first production orders for parts, which will be used on military aircraft. GKN Powder 
Metallurgy is now supplying aerospace certified titanium powder from our US-based pilot plant for new AM parts.  
 
GKN Driveline’s leading technology was demonstrated when its eDrive axle project won a prestigious Automotive 
News PACE award, considered to be the industry benchmark for automotive innovation. eDrive axles are a second 
electrically driven axle  which provide all-wheel drive (AWD) capability as well as improved fuel efficiency. GKN 
Driveline is the leader in that market with more units on the road than our competitors. eDrive today is a relatively 
small part of our business, but it is expected to grow as vehicles become increasingly electrified. 
 
GKN Land Systems made progress with a new industrial shaft monitoring service and innovative wheel 
profiles. 
 
Looking ahead 
As regards the outlook for 2016: 
 

 Aerospace markets generally remain in transition as some aircraft programmes run down and others ramp 
up. The overall market will be slightly down, according to external forecasts. Against that backdrop, GKN 
Aerospace’s 2016 organic sales are expected to be broadly flat, although the results will benefit from the 
contribution of Fokker. In the medium term, our strong commercial order book supports continuing growth for 
GKN Aerospace. 

 In automotive, external forecasts predict growth in global light vehicle production of around 3% with 
increases in China, North America, Europe and India, while Brazil is expected to show a further sharp 
decline. Against this background, GKN Driveline and GKN Powder Metallurgy are expected to continue to 
grow organically above the market.   

 GKN Land Systems’ sales are expected to fall further due to softer agricultural and construction equipment 
markets.  

 
Although the economic backdrop is uncertain and some of our markets remain challenging, 2016 is expected 
to be a year of good growth, helped by the contribution from Fokker. 
 
All figures in this review are presented on a management basis, which aggregates the sales and trading 
profit of subsidiaries (excluding certain subsidiary businesses sold and closed) with the Group's share of the 
sales and trading profits of joint ventures.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 

2. Financial resources and going concern 

At 31 December 2015, UK committed bank facilities were £864 million (2014: £880 million). Within this 
amount there are committed revolving credit facilities of £800 million (2014: £800 million) and a £64 million 
(2014: £80 million) eight-year amortising facility from the European Investment Bank (EIB). The revolving 
credit facilities of £800 million mature in 2019, while the first of five equal, annual £16 million EIB 
repayments was paid this year. At 31 December 2015, £64 million of the EIB facility was drawn (2014: £80 
million fully drawn) and there were no drawings on any of the UK revolving credit facilities (2014: no 
drawings). Capital market borrowings at 31 December 2015 comprised a £350 million 6.75% annual 
unsecured bond maturing in October 2019 and a £450 million 5.375% semi-annual unsecured bond 
maturing in September 2022. 
 
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net debt of £769 million (2014: £624 million). All of the Group’s 
committed credit facilities have financial covenants requiring EBITDA of subsidiaries to be at least 3.5 
times net interest payable and for net debt to be no greater than 3 times EBITDA of subsidiaries. The 
covenants are tested every six months using the previous 12 months’ results. For the 12 months to 31 
December 2015, EBITDA was 13.4 times greater than net interest payable, while net debt was 0.9 times 
EBITDA. During 2014 the Group entered into a series of cross currency interest rate swaps to better align 
its foreign currency income receipts in US dollars and euros with its debt and had the effect of converting 
its Sterling bonds into US dollars ($951 million) and euros (€284 million). The cross currency interest rate 
swaps have been designated as a net investment hedge of the Group’s US dollar and euro net assets. 
The fair value of the cross currency interest rate swaps at 31 December 2015 was a liability of £69 million 
(2014: £26 million). 
  
The Directors of have taken into account both divisional and Group forecasts for the 18 months from the 
balance sheet date to assess the future funding requirements of the Group, and compared them with the 
level of committed available borrowing facilities, described above. The Directors have concluded that the 
Group will have a sufficient level of headroom in the foreseeable future and that the likelihood of 
breaching covenants in this period is remote. It is therefore appropriate for the financial statements to be 
prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
The Directors also confirm that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be viable for at 
least three years from 1 January 2016, continuing to operate and meet its liabilities as they fall due. The 
Directors’ assessment has been made by stress testing the Group’s 2016 budget and a sensitised 
forecast for 2017 and 2018.  
 
The stress testing involved modelling the impact of our principal risks in a number of severe but plausible 
downside scenarios, taking account of additional mitigating actions available to the Group. The most 
severe risks that were modelled were a major global quality issue, global market deterioration and 
increased margin pressure. The assessment considered the potential impact of these risks on the 2016 
budget and sensitised 2017 and 2018 forecasts including solvency and liquidity over this period. The 
Directors consider a three-year period to be a reasonable time horizon for the viability statement because 
after that it becomes much more difficult to predict the Group’s performance with a reasonable degree of 
certainty. While the Directors believe that three years is an appropriate period for the viability statement, 
they fully expect that GKN will continue in business for the foreseeable future given its proven longevity 
and strong balance sheet.  
 

3. Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
 
The Company’s risk management process includes an assessment of the likelihood and potential 
impact of a range of events to determine the overall risk level and to identify actions necessary to 
mitigate their impact.  As a finance, investment and holding company within the GKN Group, aside 
from holding the Group’s external term loans and the sponsorship of the GKN UK pension schemes, 
the Company’s dealings are almost exclusively intra Group transactions.  In this context, the 
Company’s significant risks and uncertainties are identified  
below.  In addition, risks which could have a material impact on the Group’s strategic objectives are 
given in the annual report of GKN plc for 2015 which does not form part of this report.   
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Strategic Report (continued) 

3. Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued) 

Additional risks not currently known or which are regarded as immaterial could also affect future 
performance. 
 
Pension deficit volatility 
 

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension plans with aggregate net liabilities of £1,558 
million at 31 December 2015. These plans are exposed to the risk of changes in asset values, 
discount rates, inflation and mortality assumptions.  Increases to the pension deficit could lead to a 
requirement for additional cash contributions to these plans, thereby reducing the amount of cash 
available to meet the Group’s other operating, investment and financing requirements. 
 
This risk is managed through close co-operation with scheme fiduciaries regarding the management of 
pension scheme assets and liabilities, including asset selection and hedging actions.  Alternative 
funding and risk mitigation actions are also implemented where appropriate.  
 
During the year, against an economic backdrop which has seen pension liabilities remain at a high 
level versus historical norms, driven by the exceptionally low yields on long-term bonds, we have 
continued to undertake pension risk reduction initiatives. These include extending a partial buy-in 
transaction in the UK and finalising a ‘pension increase exchange’ exercise to further mitigate inflation 
risk.  
 
The Group continues to have a reasonable degree of visibility over the range of short- to medium-term 
funding cash flows, but will continue to monitor the impact of market volatility ahead of the planned 
April 2016 funding valuation in the UK. 

 

Business continuity 
 
A major disruption to internal facilities or the external supply chain could be caused by natural disaster 
or damage, or destruction of a key facility or asset. The Group has a small number of facilities and 
assets which are key to maintaining production levels for major customers and internal service levels. 
In addition, certain of the Group’s businesses are exposed to a higher inherent risk of natural disasters 
because of their geographical locations. A sustained disruption to internal facilities or production could 
result in major operational disruption, a significant adverse impact on our ability to meet customer 
requirements and additional contractual liabilities, and could have a consequential impact on financial 
performance. 
 
This risk is managed through ongoing maintenance and replacement programmes for key assets and 
facilities, flexible sourcing arrangements for key supplies, effective supply chain management to 
ensure appropriate inventory levels are maintained, targeted incident response and business 
continuity plans.  
 
Currency translation 
 
Movements in exchange rates of key currencies may significantly impact the Group’s financial results. 
Our mitigation strategy includes foreign currency hedging and using cross currency swaps to align our 
debt to the principal currencies in which our revenues and cash flows are generated.  
 
During the year the Group designated a US dollar loan, drawn in relation to the purchase of Fokker, as 
part of a net investment hedge of US dollar net assets. The Group also acquired a portfolio of forward 
foreign currency contracts with the purchase of Fokker valued on acquisition at a liability of £68 
million. 
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Strategic Report (continued)

3. Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Other than the addition of acquisition integration, there has been no significant change in the inherent

risk profile of the Group during 2015. All divisions continue to focus on risk mitigation, including the

production, refinement and testing of business continuity and disaster recovery plans, and ongoing

reviews of critical assets and prioritisation of capital investment.

4. Key Performance Indicators

Key performance indicators are measured either on a divisional or Group basis. The financial and

non-financial key performance indicators and the GKN Group’s performance against them in 2015 are

shown in the annual report of GKN plc for 2015 which does not form part of this report. As a finance,

investment and holding company dealing principally with intra Group transactions, the Directors

believe that analysis using key performance indicators for the Company is not necessary or

appropriate for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the business of the

Company.

The strategic report set out on pages 1 to 5 was approved by the Board on 21 April 2016 and signed on its

behalf by

K Watson
Secretary
21 April 2016
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Directors’ Report 

 
1. Directors: 

 
The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing the Financial Statements 
are as follows: 
 
 Mr N M Stein 
 Mr A C Walker  
 Mr M J Sclater  
 

2. Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities  

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the Group and Company financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each 
financial year.  Under that law, the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union (EU) and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom (UK) Accounting Standards (UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 
Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of their 
profit or loss for that period.  In preparing each of the Group and Company financial statements the 
Directors are required to: 
 

 select appropriate accounting policies and apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU; 

 for the Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Company 
financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Group and the Company will continue in business. 

 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s and the Company’s transactions, disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Group and the Company, and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and as regards the Group financial statements, 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.  

 
Each of the Directors as at the date of this report, whose names are set out above, confirm that to the 
best of their knowledge: 
 

 the Group financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,  give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and 
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and 

 the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face. 

 
The auditors' responsibilities in relation to the accounts are set out in their report on page 10. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 

3. Financial Results 

The consolidated income statement of the Group shows a profit after taxation for the year of 
£199 million (2014: £168 million).  
 
No interim dividend was paid for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: £300,000,000). The 
Directors have not proposed a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: £nil). 
 
4. Research and development  

Group subsidiaries undertake research and development work in support of their principal 
manufacturing activities.  Further details of the Group’s research and development activities can be 
found within the GKN plc 2015 annual report.  
 
5. Indemnities 

The Company has executed qualifying pension scheme indemnity provisions as defined by section 
235 of the Companies Act 2006, for the benefit of the Directors and Officers of GKN Group Pension 
Trustee Limited and GKN Group Pension Trustee (No 2) Limited, respectively the corporate trustees 
of the GKN Group Pension Scheme and the GKN Group Pension Scheme 2012.  
 
6. Employees 

Consultation with employees or their representatives has continued at all levels, with the aim of 
ensuring that their views are taken into account when decisions are made that are likely to affect their 
interests and that all employees are aware of the financial and economic performance of their 
business units and of the company as a whole.  Communication with employees is promoted through 
a variety of means including in-house newsletters, briefing meetings and the GKN intranet which 
provides access to Group information, news, policies and procedures.  

 
7. Disabled Persons 

The Company's policy in relation to the employment of disabled persons is to give full consideration to 
job applications received from disabled persons.  Candidates are selected and appointed on the basis 
of their ability to perform the duties of the job.  Where appropriate, special training is given to facilitate 
engagement of the disabled and modifications to the job will be considered.  Where an employee 
becomes disabled whilst employed by the Company, arrangements will be made wherever possible 
for re-training in order that a different job may be performed.  Consideration for modifying jobs will be 
given. 

 

8. Financial Instruments  

Details of the Group’s use of financial instruments can be found in Note 18 to the financial statements.  

9. Political donations 

In accordance with the Group’s policy, no political donations were made and no political expenditure 

was incurred during 2015.  
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Directors’ Report (continued)

10. Branches

GKN, through various subsidiaries, has established branches in a number of different countries in
which the Group operates.

11. Corporate Governance

The Company has chosen to take advantage of the exemptions available to it from sections 7.1 and
7.2 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (the “DTR”) of the Financial Conduct Authority. The
exemption from DTR 7.1 is available to the Company as it is a subsidiary undertaking of a parent
undertaking which itself is subject to DTR 7.1. The exemption from DTR 7.2 is available to the
Company as its shares are not traded on a regulated market.

12. Disclosure of Information to Auditors

In the case of each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date when this report was
approved:

• so far as each of the Directors is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware; and

• each of the Directors has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director to
make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

13. Auditors

A resolution to appoint Deloitte LLP as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The Directors’ report set out on pages 6 to 8 was approved by the Board on 21 April 2016 and signed on
its behalf by

K Watson
Secretary
21 April2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GKN HOLDINGS PLC 
 
Report on the group financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, GKN Holdings plc’s group financial statements (the “financial statements”): 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of its profit and 
cash flows for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as 
adopted by the European Union; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. 

What we have audited 

GKN Holdings plc’s financial statements comprise: 

 the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015; 

 the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year 
then ended; 

 the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; 

 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and 

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is 
applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. 

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, 
for example in respect of significant accounting estimates.  In making such estimates, they have made 
assumptions and considered future events. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year 
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Adequacy of information and explanations received 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit.  We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility. 

Directors’ remuneration 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of 
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made.  We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GKN HOLDINGS PLC (continued)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities set out on page 6, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs (UK & Ireland)’). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of:

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed;

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.
We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider
necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through
testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Other matters

We have reported separately on the Company accounts of Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December
2015.

Andrew Hammond (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Birmingham

5 April2016
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Consolidated Income Statement 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 

 Notes 2015  2014  
   £m  £m  

    
Sales 2 7,231  6,982  

    

 Trading profit 2 610  612  
 Change in value of derivative and other financial instruments 4 (122) (209) 
 Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on      
  business combinations 4 (80) (69) 
 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 4 (1) 24  
 Impairment charges 9 (71) (69) 
 Reversal of inventory fair value adjustment arising on    
  business combinations 28 (12) -  

Operating profit  324  289  
    
Share of post-tax earnings of equity accounted investments 11 59  61  

    

  Interest payable  (72) (75) 
  Interest receivable  7  2  
  Other net financing charges  (72) (56) 

Net financing costs 5 (137) (129) 
     

Profit before taxation   246  221  
    
Taxation 6 (47) (53) 

Profit after taxation for the year   199  168  

    
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  5  5  
Profit attributable to owners of the parent  194  163  

   199  168  
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 

 Notes 2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

Profit after taxation for the year  199  168  
Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    
Currency variations – subsidiaries    
 Arising in year  74  47  
 Reclassified in year 4 4  -  
Currency variations – equity accounted investments    
 Arising in year 11 1  2  
 Reclassified in year  -  (1) 
Derivative financial instruments – transactional hedging    
 Arising in year 18 5  -  
 Reclassified in year 18 (5) -  
Net investment hedge changes in fair value    
 Arising in year 18 (37) (30) 
 Reclassified in year  -  -  
Taxation 6 (5) 9  

  37  27  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans    
 Subsidiaries 22 139  (485) 
Taxation 6 (42) 122  

  97  (363) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  134  (336) 

    
Total comprehensive income for the year  333  (168) 
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests  4  5  
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the parent  329  (173) 

  333  (168) 
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Consolidated Statement  of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 

     Other reserves  
 

 

 Notes 

Share  
capital  

£m  

Share  
premium  
account  

£m  

Retained  
earnings  

£m  

Exchange  
reserve  

£m  

Hedging  
reserve  

£m  

Other  
reserves  

£m  

Equity  
attributable  

to equity  
holders of  
the parent  

£m  

Non- 
controlling 
interests  

£m  

Total  
equity  

£m  

At 1 January 2015  362  301  3,066  168  (227) (134) 3,536  22  3,558  

Profit for the year  -  -  194  -  -  -  194  5  199  

Other comprehensive            

 income/(expense)  -  -  97  75  (37) -  135  (1) 134  

Total comprehensive income  -  -  291  75  (37) -  329  4  333  

Share-based payments 8 -  -  1  -  -  -  1  -  1  

Dividends paid to non-controlling            

 interests  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (3) (3) 

At 31 December 2015  362  301  3,358  243  (264) (134) 3,866  23  3,889  

At 1 January 2014  362  301  3,563  111  (197) (134) 4,006  20  4,026  

Profit for the year  -  -  163  -  -  -  163  5  168  

Other comprehensive            

 income/(expense)  -  -  (363) 57  (30) -  (336) -  (336) 

Total comprehensive income  -  -  (200) 57  (30) -  (173) 5  (168) 

Share-based payments 8 -  -  3  -  -  -  3  -  3  

Purchase of non-controlling interests  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1) (1) 

Dividends paid to Parent undertaking   -  -  (300) -  -  -  (300) -  (300) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling            

 interests  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2) (2) 

At 31 December 2014  362  301  3,066 168  (227) (134) 3,536 22  3,558  

 

Other reserves include accumulated reserves where distribution has been restricted due to legal or fiscal requirements and accumulated 
adjustments in respect of piecemeal acquisitions. 
  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number; 66549

Consohdated Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2015

___________________________

Notes 2015 2014

Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 9 591 498
Other intangible assets 9 1,265 944
Property, plant and equipment 10 2,200 2060
Equity accounted investments 11 195 174
Other receivables and investments 12 42 44
Derivative financial instruments 18 21 16
Deferred tax assets 6 388 407

4,702 4,143
Current assets
Inventories 13 1,170 971
Trade and other receivables 14 1,311 1,226
Amounts receivable from parent undertaking 2,009 2,064
Current tax assets 6 9 8
Derivative financial instruments 18 13 10
Other financial assets 16 5 3
Cash and cash equivalents 16 299 319

______

4,816 4,601
Total assets 9,518 744

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 16 (137) (43)
Derivative financial instruments 18 (151) (76)
Trade and other payables 15 (1,757) (1,611)
Amounts payable to parent undertaking (6) (7)
Current tax liabilities 6 (121) (125)

rovi
-

___________

19

__________

(2,250) (1,913L
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 (867) (877)
Derivative financial instruments 18 (294) (148)
Deferred tax liabilities 6 (157) (223)
Trade and other payables 15 (425) (202)
Provisions 19 (78) (112)
Post-employment obligations

______

22 (1,558) 1J1j
(3,379) (3,273)

Total liabilities

_____________________________________

(5,629) (5,186)

Net assets 3,889 3,558

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 20 362 362
Share premium account 301 301
Retained earnings 3,358 3,066
Other reserves

_____________________________

(155) - (193)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 3,866 3,536
Non-controlling interests

_____ _____________

23 22 —

Total equity 3,889 3,558

j jhe financial statements on pages 11 to 61 were approved by the Board of Directors and
uthprised for issue on 21 April 2016. They were signed on its behalf by:

Page 14 of 82
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 

 Notes 2015  2014  

  £m  £m  

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash generated from operations 21 940  939  

Interest received  15  2  
Interest paid  (69) (82) 
Costs associated with refinancing  -  (3) 
Tax paid  (115) (74) 
Dividends received from equity accounted investments 11 55  44  

    826  826  

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (332) (329) 
Receipt of government capital grants  2  1  
Purchase of intangible assets  (81) (75) 
Proceeds from sale and realisation of fixed assets  9  19  
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration 15 (7) (6) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) 28 (117) (8) 
Repayment of debt acquired in business combinations  (371) -  
Repayment of government refundable advance  -  (38) 
Proceeds from sale of equity accounted investments  -  37  
Equity accounted investments loan settlement  3  8  

  (894) (391) 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Purchase of non-controlling interests  -  (1) 
Amounts placed on deposit  (2) (3) 
Proceeds from borrowing facilities  485  66  
Repayment of other borrowings  (423) (63) 
Dividends paid to parent undertaking  -  (300) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (3) (2) 

  57  (303) 

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (11) 132  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  317  181  
Currency variations on cash and cash equivalents  (15) 4  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21 291  317  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
  

1 Accounting policies and presentation 

 The Group's significant accounting policies are summarised below. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements (the “statements”) have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed and adopted for use by the European 
Union.  These statements have been prepared under the historical cost method except where other 
measurement bases are required to be applied under IFRS as set out below. 
 
These statements have been prepared using all standards and interpretations required for financial 
periods beginning 1 January 2015.  No standards or interpretations have been adopted before the 
required implementation date.   
 
Standards, revisions and amendments to standards and interpretations 
The Group adopted all applicable amendments to standards with an effective date in 2015 with no 
material impact on its results, assets and liabilities.  All other accounting policies have been applied 
consistently. 
 

 

Basis of consolidation 
The statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together "the 
Group") and the Group's share of the results and equity of its joint ventures and associates (together 
“equity accounted investments”).  During 2014 the Group did not have any material associates, but 
through its acquisition in the year (see note 28) it now has one such investment.  This has necessitated a 
change to the balance sheet narrative only. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities over which, either directly or indirectly, the Company has control through the 
power to govern financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefit from their activities.  This power is 
accompanied by a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting rights.  The results of subsidiaries 
acquired or sold during the year are included in the Group's results from the date of acquisition or up to 
the date of disposal.  All business combinations are accounted for by the purchase method.  Assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value. 
 
Intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated. 
 
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of shareholders' earnings and equity attributable to third 
party shareholders. 
 

 

Equity accounted investments 
Joint ventures are entities in which the Group has a long term interest and exercises joint control with its 
partners over their financial and operating policies.  In all cases voting rights are 50% or lower.  
Associated undertakings are entities, being neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, where the Group has 
a significant influence.  Equity accounted investments are accounted for by the equity method.  The 
Group's share of equity includes goodwill arising on acquisition. 
 
Foreign currencies 
Subsidiaries and equity accounted investments account in the currency of their primary economic 
environment of operation, determined having regard to the currency which mainly influences sales and 
input costs.  Transactions are translated at exchange rates approximating to the rate ruling on the date of 
the transaction except in the case of material transactions when actual spot rate may be used where it 
more accurately reflects the underlying substance of the transaction.  Where practicable, transactions 
involving foreign currencies are protected by forward contracts.  Assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Such 
transactional exchange differences are taken into account in determining profit before tax. 
 
Material foreign currency movements arising on the translation of intra-group balances where there is no 
intention of repayment are treated as part of the net investment in a subsidiary and are recognised 
through equity.  Movements on other intra-group balances are recognised through the income statement.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 

Foreign currencies (continued) 
The Group's presentational currency is sterling.  On consolidation, results and cash flows of foreign 
subsidiaries and equity accounted investments are translated to sterling at average exchange rates 
except in the case of material transactions when the actual spot rate is used where it more accurately 
reflects the underlying substance of the transaction.  Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange 
rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Such translational exchange differences are taken to equity. 
 
Profits and losses on the realisation of foreign currency net investments include the accumulated net 
exchange differences that have arisen on the retranslation of the foreign currency net investments since 1 
January 2004 up to the date of realisation. 
 
Presentation of the income statement 
IFRS is not fully prescriptive as to the format of the income statement.  Line items and subtotals have 
been presented on the face of the income statement in addition to those required under IFRS. 
 
Sales shown in the income statement are those of subsidiaries. 
 
Operating profit is profit before taxation, finance costs and the share of post-tax earnings of equity 
accounted investments.  In order to achieve consistency and comparability between reporting periods, 
operating profit is analysed to show separately the results of normal trading performance and individually 
significant charges and credits.  Such items arise because of their size or nature and comprise: 
 
 the impact of the annual goodwill impairment review; 
 asset impairment and restructuring charges which arise from events that are significant to any 

reportable segment; 
 amortisation of the fair value of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations; 
 changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and material currency translation 

movements arising on intra-group funding; 
 gains or losses on changes in Group structure which do not meet the definition of discontinued 

operations or which the Group views as capital rather than revenue in nature;   
 profits or losses arising from business combinations including fair value adjustments to pre-

combination shareholdings, changes in estimates of contingent consideration made after the 
provisional fair value period and material expenses and charges incurred on a business combination; 
and 

 significant pension scheme curtailments and settlements. 
 
The Group’s post-tax share of equity accounted investment earnings is shown as a separate component 
of profit before tax.  The Group’s share of material restructuring and impairment charges, amortisation of 
the fair value of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations and other net financing 
charges and their related taxation are separately identified, in the related note. 
 
Net financing costs are analysed to show separately interest payable, interest receivable and other net 
financing charges.  Other net financing charges include the interest charge on net defined benefit plans, 
specific changes in fair value on net investment hedges and unwind of discounts on fair value amounts 
established on business combinations.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 Revenue recognition 
Sales 
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable which 
generally equates to the invoiced amount, excluding sales taxes and net of allowances for returns, early 
settlement discounts and rebates.  The Group has three principal revenue streams: 
 
Sales of product 
This revenue stream accounts for the overwhelming majority of Group sales.  Contracts in the Automotive 
and Land Systems segments operate almost exclusively on this basis, and it also covers a high 
proportion of Aerospace revenues. 
 
Invoices for goods are raised when the risks and rewards of ownership have passed which, dependent 
upon contractual terms, may be at the point of despatch, acceptance by the customer or, in Aerospace, 
certification by the customer. 
 
Many businesses in Automotive and Land Systems recognise an element of revenue via a surcharge or 
similar raw material cost recovery mechanism.  The surcharge invoiced or credited is generally based on 
prior period movement in raw material price indices applied to current period deliveries.  Other cost 
recoveries are recorded according to the customer agreement.  In those instances where recovery of 
such increases is guaranteed, irrespective of the level of future deliveries, revenue is recognised, or due 
allowance made, in the same period as the cost movement takes place. 
 
Risk and revenue sharing partnerships (RRSPs) 
This revenue stream impacts a small number of businesses, exclusively in the Aerospace 
segment.  Revenue is recognised under RRSPs for both the sale of product as detailed above and sales 
of services, which are recognised by reference to the stage of completion based on services performed to 
date.  The assessment of the stage of completion is dependent on the nature of the contract, but will 
generally be based on: costs incurred to the extent these relate to services performed up to the reporting 
date; achievement of contractual milestones where appropriate; or flying hours or equivalent for long-term 
aftermarket arrangements. 
 
In most RRSP contracts there are two separate phases where the Group earns revenue; sale of products 
principally to engine manufacturers and aftermarket support.  Due to the nature of the industry, the sale of 
products to engine manufacturers can be deeply discounted with more favourable pricing in the 
aftermarket phase.  The Group accounts for the sale of product in early phases of contracts distinct from 
the sale of product/service in the aftermarket phase.  This generally has the effect of lower margins 
recognised during the early phase of contracts with higher margins earned during the aftermarket 
phase.  The Group does not believe that margin should be spread evenly over the two distinct phases of 
RRSP contracts or that accounting losses should be deferred, because it does not consider there is 
sufficient contractual certainty over the future revenue, should programme volumes not materialise. 
 
Design and build   
This revenue stream impacts a discrete number of businesses, primarily in the Aerospace segment but 
also on a smaller scale in the Automotive segment.  Generally revenue is only recognised on the sale of 
product as detailed above, however, on occasions cash is received in advance of work performed to 
compensate the Group for costs incurred in design and development activities.  Where such amounts are 
received and the risk and rewards of ownership over the development assets are not deemed to have 
been transferred, amounts are deferred on the balance sheet (in ‘customer advances and deferred 
income’) and taken to revenue as the Group performs its contractual obligations either on delivery of 
product or milestones. 
 
Due to the nature of the design and build contracts there can be significant ‘learning curves’ whilst the 
Group optimises its production processes.  During this early phase of these contracts, all costs including 
any start-up losses are taken directly to the income statement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 Revenue recognition (continued) 
Other income 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.   
 
Sales and other income is recognised in the income statement when it can be reliably measured and its 
collectability is reasonably assured. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. 
 
Cost 
Cost comprises the purchase price plus costs directly incurred in bringing the asset into use and 
borrowing costs on qualifying assets, defined as an asset or programme where the period of capitalisation 
is more than 12 months and the capital value is more than £25 million.  Where freehold and long 
leasehold properties were carried at valuation on 23 March 2000, these values have been retained as 
book values and therefore deemed cost at the date of the IFRS transition.   
 

Where assets are in the course of construction at the balance sheet date they are classified as capital 
work in progress.  Transfers are made to other asset categories when they are available for use. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or capital work in progress.  In the case of all other 
categories of property, plant and equipment, depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the 
course of the financial year from the date the asset is available for use. 
 
Depreciation is applied to specific classes of asset so as to reduce them to their residual values over their 
estimated useful lives, which are reviewed annually. 

  
 The range of depreciation lives are: 
  Years 

 Freehold buildings Up to 50 
 Steel powder production plant  18 
 General plant, machinery, fixtures and fittings 6 to 15 
 Computers 3 to 5 
 Commercial vehicles and cars 4 to 5 

  

 

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed at least annually for indications of impairment.  Where an 
impairment charge arises in the ordinary course of business it is recorded in trading profit.  If an 
impairment charge arises as a part of a wider review of a cash generating unit it is presented separately 
within operating profit. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recorded in arrangements where payments, or similar transfers of financial 
resources, are unavoidable or guaranteed.   
 
Borrowings are measured initially at fair value which usually equates to proceeds received and includes 
transaction costs.  Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and overdrafts together with 
highly liquid investments of less than 90 days maturity.  Other financial assets comprise investments with 
more than 90 days until maturity.  Unless an enforceable right of set-off exists and there is an intention to 
net settle, the components of cash and cash equivalents are reflected on a gross basis in the balance 
sheet. 
 
Other financial assets and liabilities, including short term receivables and payables, are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any impairment provision 
unless the impact of the time value of money is considered to be material. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
The Group does not trade in derivative financial instruments.  Derivative financial instruments including 
forward foreign currency contracts and cross currency interest rate swaps are used by the Group to 
manage its exposure to risk associated with the variability in cash flows in relation to both recognised 
assets or liabilities or forecast transactions.  All derivative financial instruments are measured at the 
balance sheet date at their fair value. 
 
Where derivative financial instruments are not designated as or not determined to be effective hedges, 
any gain or loss on remeasurement is taken to the income statement.  Where derivative financial 
instruments are designated as and are effective as cash flow hedges, any gain or loss on remeasurement 
is held in equity and recycled through the income statement when the designated item is transacted, 
unless related to the purchase of a business, when recycled against consideration.  Where derivative 
financial instruments are designated as and are effective as net investment hedges, any gain or loss on 
remeasurement is held in equity and only recycled when the underlying investment is sold or disposed. 
 
Gains or losses on derivative financial instruments no longer designated as effective hedges are taken 
directly to the income statement. 
 
Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts are recognised at their fair value when the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the derivative are not closely related to the host contract.  Gains and losses 
arising on the remeasurement of these embedded derivatives at each balance sheet date are taken to the 
income statement. 
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill consists of the excess of the fair value of the consideration over the fair value of the identifiable 
intangible and tangible assets net of the fair value of the liabilities including contingencies of businesses 
acquired at the date of acquisition.  Acquisition related expenses are charged to the income statement as 
incurred. 
 
Goodwill in respect of business combinations of subsidiaries is recognised as an intangible asset.  
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an equity accounted investment is included in the carrying value of 
the investment. 
 
Goodwill is not amortised but tested at least annually for impairment.  Goodwill is carried at cost less any 
recognised impairment losses that arise from the annual assessment of its carrying value.  To the extent 
that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of estimated 
discounted future net cash flows or recoverable amount on a fair value less cost of disposal basis, 
goodwill is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment charge is recognised in the income 
statement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 

Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment charges. 
 
Development costs and participation fees 
Where development expenditure results in a new or substantially improved product or process and it is 
probable that this expenditure will be recovered, it is capitalised.  Cost comprises development 
expenditure and borrowing costs on qualifying assets or fair value on initial recognition when as a result 
of a business combination.  In addition, payments made to engine manufacturers and original equipment 
manufacturers for participation fees relating to risk and revenue sharing partnerships and long term 
agreements, are carried forward in intangible assets to the extent that they can be recovered from future 
sales. 
 
Amortisation is charged from the date the asset is available for use.  In Aerospace, amortisation is 
charged over the asset’s life up to a maximum of 15 years for all programmes other than risk and revenue 
sharing partnerships where a maximum life of 25 years is assumed, either on a straight line basis or, 
where sufficient contractual terms exist providing clarity over volumes that do not reflect a linear 
progression, a unit of production method is applied.  In Automotive, amortisation is charged on a straight 
line basis over the asset’s life up to a maximum of 7 years. 
 
Capitalised development costs, including participation fees, are subject to annual impairment reviews with 
any resulting impairments charged to the income statement. 
 
Research expenditure and development expenditure not qualifying for capitalisation is written off as 
incurred. 
 
Computer software 
Where computer software is not integral to an item of property, plant or equipment its costs are 
capitalised and categorised as intangible assets.  Cost comprises the purchase price plus costs directly 
incurred in bringing the asset into use.  Amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over its useful 
economic life which is in the range of 3-5 years. 
 

 Assets acquired on business combinations – non-operating intangible assets 
Non-operating intangible assets are intangible assets that are acquired as a result of a business 
combination, which arise from contractual or other legal rights and are not transferable or separable.  On 
initial recognition they are measured at fair value.  Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis to the 
income statement over their expected useful lives which are: 

  
   Years 

 Marketing related assets -  brands and trademarks 20-50 
  -  agreements not to compete Life of agreement 
 Customer related assets -  order backlog Length of backlog 
  -  other customer contracts and relationships 2-25 
 Technology based assets 5-25 
   

 Inventories  
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value with due allowance being 
made for obsolete or slow-moving items.  Cost is determined on a first in, first out or weighted average 
cost basis.  Cost includes raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and the relevant proportion of 
works overheads assuming normal levels of activity.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
less estimated selling costs and costs to complete.   
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

  
 Taxation 

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement unless they relate to items 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income when the related tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Full provision is made for deferred tax on all temporary differences resulting from the difference between 
the carrying value of an asset or liability in the consolidated financial statements and its tax base.  The 
amount of deferred tax reflects the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
the assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are only recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that they will be recovered against future taxable profits. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted profits of joint ventures.  No deferred tax is recognised on the 
unremitted profits of overseas branches and subsidiaries except to the extent that it is probable that such 
earnings will be remitted to the parent in the foreseeable future. 
 

 Pensions and post-employment benefits 
The Group’s pension arrangements comprise various defined benefit and defined contribution schemes 
throughout the world.  In the UK and in certain overseas companies pension arrangements are made 
through externally funded defined benefit schemes, the contributions to which are based on the advice of 
independent actuaries or in accordance with the rules of the schemes.  In other overseas companies funds 
are retained within the business to provide for retirement obligations. 
 
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution and defined benefit arrangements which 
provide certain employees with defined post-employment healthcare benefits. 
 
The Group accounts for all post-employment defined benefit schemes through recognition of the schemes’ 
surpluses or deficits on the balance sheet at the end of each year.  Remeasurement of defined benefit 
plans is included in other comprehensive income.  Current and past service costs, curtailments and 
settlements are recognised within operating profit.  Interest charges on net defined benefit plans are 
recognised in other net financing charges. 
 
For defined contribution arrangements the cost charged to the income statement represents the Group’s 
contributions to the relevant schemes in the year in which they fall due. 
 

 Government refundable advances 
Government refundable advances are reported in Trade and other payables in the balance sheet.  
Refundable advances include amounts advanced by Government, accrued interest and directly 
attributable costs.  Refundable advances are provided to the Group to part-finance expenditures on 
specific development programmes.  The advances are provided on a risk sharing basis, i.e. repayment 
levels are determined subject to the success of the related programme.  Interest is calculated using the 
effective interest rate method.   
 
Share-based payments 
Share options granted to employees and share-based arrangements put in place since 7 November 2002 
are valued at the date of grant or award using an appropriate option pricing model and are charged to 
operating profit over the performance or vesting period of the scheme.  The annual charge is modified to 
take account of shares forfeited by employees who leave during the performance or vesting period and, in 
the case of non-market related performance conditions, where it becomes unlikely the option will vest. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 Provisions 
Provisions for onerous or loss making contracts, warranty exposures, environmental matters, restructuring, 
employee obligations and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination 
penalties and employee termination payments.  Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation.  Any increase in provisions due to discounting, only 
recorded where material, is recognised as interest expense within other net financing charges. 
 
Standards, revisions and amendments to standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted 
 
The Group does not intend to adopt any standard, revision or amendment before the required 
implementation date.  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards 
which have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some 
cases had not yet been adopted by the EU): 
 
 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018);  
 IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (effective from 1 January 2018); and 
 IFRS 16 Leases (effective from 1 January 2019). 
 
These standards and other revisions to standards and interpretations which have an implementation date 
in 2017 or thereafter are still being assessed. 
 

 Significant judgements, key assumptions and estimates 
The Group's significant accounting policies are set out above.  The preparation of financial statements, in 
conformity with IFRS, requires the use of estimates, subjective judgement and assumptions that may 
affect the amounts of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and reported profit and earnings for 
the year.  The Directors base these estimates, judgements and assumptions on a combination of past 
experience, professional expert advice and other evidence that is relevant to the particular circumstance. 
 
Accounting policies where the Directors consider the more complex estimates, judgements and 
assumptions have to be made are those in respect of business combinations (note 28), post-employment 
obligations (note 22), derivative and other financial instruments (notes 4b and 18), taxation (note 6), 
provisions (note 19) and impairment of non-current assets (note 9c).  Details of the principal judgements, 
assumptions and estimates made are set out in the related notes as identified. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
2 Segmental analysis 

 

The Group's reportable segments have been determined based on reports reviewed by the Executive Committee led 
by the Chief Executive.  The operating activities of the Group are largely structured according to the markets served; 
aerospace, automotive and the land systems markets.  Automotive is managed according to product groups; 
driveline and powder metallurgy.  Reportable segments derive their sales from the manufacture of products and sale 
of service.  Revenue from inter segment trading and royalties is not significant.   

(a) Sales 

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2015      

 Subsidiaries 2,387  3,124  906  670   

 Equity accounted investments -  424  -  23   

  2,387  3,548  906  693  7,534  

  

 Acquisitions      

 Subsidiaries 102  -  -  -   

 Equity accounted investments 11  -  -  -   

  113  -  -  -  113  
  

 Other businesses     42  

 Management sales      7,689  

 Less:  Equity accounted investments     (458) 

 Income statement – sales     7,231  

       

 2014      

 Subsidiaries 2,226  3,050  916  752   
 Equity accounted investments -  394  -  24   

  2,226  3,444  916  776  7,362  
  

 Other businesses     94  

 Management sales      7,456  
 Less:  Equity accounted investments     (474) 

 Income statement – sales     6,982  

       

 
Subsidiary sales comprise £6,895 million (2014: £6,694 million) from the manufacture of product and £336 million 
(2014: £288 million) from the sale of service. 

       
(b) Trading profit 

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems   Total  

    £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 2015      

 Trading profit before depreciation and amortisation 383  329  148  39   

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (59) (101) (38) (15)  

 Amortisation of operating intangible assets (33) (7) (1) (1)  

 Trading profit – subsidiaries 291  221  109  23   

 Trading profit – equity accounted investments -  69  -  1   

  291  290  109  24  714  

  

 Acquisitions      

 Subsidiaries (5) -  -  -   

 Acquisition related charges (13) -  -  -   

  (18) -  -  -  (18) 

       

 Other businesses     1  

 Corporate and unallocated costs     (17) 

 Management trading profit      680  

 Less: Equity accounted investments trading profit     (70) 

 Income statement – trading profit     610  

       

 
Acquisition related charges in 2015 comprise integration costs of £3 million and transaction professional fees of 
£10 million.  There was also a £5 million restructuring charge within the trading profit of Fokker. 
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2 Segmental analysis (continued) 

(b) Trading profit (continued) 

  

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems   Total  

    £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 2014      
 Trading profit before depreciation, impairment and       
  amortisation 356  325  137  60   
 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and       
  equipment (55) (109) (35) (17)  
 Amortisation of operating intangible assets (24) (6) (1) (1)  

 Trading profit – subsidiaries 277  210  101  42   
 Trading profit – equity accounted investments -  70  -  2   

  277  280  101  44  702  

       
 Other businesses     5  
 Corporate and unallocated costs     (20) 

 Management trading profit      687  
 Less: Equity accounted investments trading profit     (75) 

 Income statement – trading profit     612  

       

 

No income statement items between trading profit and profit before tax are allocated to management trading profit, 
which is the Group’s segmental measure of profit or loss (see note 3). 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recorded a net credit of £22 million (2014: net credit of 
£14 million) in trading profit in respect of: 

 Aerospace:  net credit of £32 million (2014: net credit of £12 million) relating to further progress on an onerous 
contract (£22 million credit), settlement of warranty matters (£8 million credit) and resolution of a contractual 
dispute matter (£7 million credit), offset by restructuring costs (£5 million charge). 

 Driveline:  net charge of £1 million (2014: net credit of £2 million) relating to the resolution of an onerous contract 
(£8 million credit) and warranty matters (£9 million charge). 

 Land Systems:  net charge of £11 million (2014: nil) relating to restructuring. 

 Corporate and unallocated costs:  net credit of £2 million (2014: nil) following completion of a pension increase 
exchange in the UK (£7 million credit, see note 24 for further details) and an environmental matter in a legacy 
business (£5 million charge). 
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2 Segmental analysis (continued) 

(c) Goodwill, fixed assets and working capital – subsidiaries only 

   Automotive   

    Powder  Land   

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2015      

 Property, plant and equipment and operating       

  intangible assets 1,208  1,049  375  128  2,760  

 Working capital 159  22  97  64  342  

 Net operating assets 1,367  1,071  472  192   

 Goodwill and non-operating intangible assets 841  258  29  134   

 Net investment 2,208  1,329  501  326   

 2014      

 Property, plant and equipment and operating       
  intangible assets 1,024  995  363  132  2,514  
 Working capital 148  47  89  75  359  

 Net operating assets 1,172  1,042  452  207   
 Goodwill and non-operating intangible assets 507  268  27  146   

 Net investment 1,679  1,310  479  353   

  
(d) Fixed asset additions, equity accounted investments and other non-cash items 

  

   Automotive    

    Powder  Land    

  Aerospace  Driveline  Metallurgy  Systems  Other  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2015       

 Fixed asset additions        

 - property, plant and equipment 99  157  59  14  5  334  

 - intangible assets 62  18  2  1  1  84  

 Equity accounted investments 16  171  -  8  -  195  

 Other non-cash items       

 - share-based payments -  1  -  -  -  1  

 - impairment charges 63  -  6  -  2  71  

 2014       
 Fixed asset additions        
 - property, plant and equipment 73  193  65  19  3  353  
 - intangible assets 71  8  3  -  -  82  
 Equity accounted investments -  165  -  9  -  174  
 Other non-cash items       
 - share-based payments 1  1  -  -  1  3  
 - impairment charges 39  -  -  26  4  69  

  
(e) Country analysis 

  United    Other  Total   

  Kingdom  USA  Germany  countries  non-UK  Total 

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2015       

 Management sales by origin 956  2,517  863  3,353  6,733  7,689  

 Goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant        

  and equipment and equity accounted investments 472  999  428  2,352  3,779  4,251  

 2014       
 Management sales by origin 950  2,313  964  3,229  6,506  7,456  
 Goodwill, other intangible assets, property, plant        
  and equipment and equity accounted investments 474  943  444  1,815  3,202  3,676  

  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 27 of 82 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
2 Segmental analysis (continued) 

(f) Other sales information 

  
Subsidiary segmental sales gross of inter segment sales are; Aerospace £2,489 million (2014: £2,226 million), 
Driveline £3,176 million (2014: £3,106 million), Powder Metallurgy £908 million (2014: £919 million) and Land Systems 
£672 million (2014: £754 million).  Inter segment transactions take place on an arm’s length basis using normal terms 
of business. 
 
In 2015 and 2014, no customer accounted for 10% or more of subsidiary sales or management sales.   
 
Management sales by product are: Aerospace - aerostructures 48% (2014: 47%), engine components and sub-
systems 44% (2014: 47%), wiring and special products 7% (2014: 6%) and services 1% (2014: nil).  Driveline – CVJ 
systems 60% (2014: 60%), all-wheel drive and e-drive systems 39% (2014: 39%) and other goods 1% (2014: 1%).  
Powder Metallurgy - sintered components 84% (2014: 84%) and metal powders 16% (2014: 16%).  Land Systems – 
power management devices 40% (2014: 41%), wheels and structures 33% (2014: 32%) and aftermarket 27% (2014: 
27%). 
 

(g) Reconciliation of segmental property, plant and equipment and operating intangible assets to the balance 
sheet 

  
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Segmental analysis – property, plant and equipment and operating intangible assets 2,760  2,514  
 Segmental analysis – goodwill and non-operating intangible assets 1,262  948  
 Goodwill (591) (498) 
 Other businesses 25  31  
 Corporate assets 9  9  

 Balance sheet – property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 3,465  3,004  

  
(h) Reconciliation of segmental working capital to the balance sheet 

  
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Segmental analysis – working capital 342  359  
 Other businesses 13  11  
 Corporate items (45) (31) 
 Accrued interest (25) (17) 
 Restructuring provisions (1) (2) 
 Equity accounted investment funding (10) -  
 Deferred and contingent consideration (3) (9) 
 Government refundable advances (86) (46) 

 Balance sheet – inventories, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and   
  provisions 185  265  
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3 Adjusted performance measures 
  

(a) Reconciliation of reported and management performance measures 
  

  2015 

  
As  

reported  

Equity  
accounted  

investments  

Adjusting  
and non-  

trading items 
Management  

basis  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Sales 7,231  458  -  7,689  

      

 Trading profit 610  70  -  680  
 Change in value of derivative and other financial     
  instruments (122) -  122  -  
 Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets     
  arising on business combinations (80) -  80  -  
 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure (1) -  1  -  
 Impairment charges (71) -  71  -  
 Reversal of inventory fair value adjustment      
  arising on business combinations (12) -  12  -  

 Operating profit 324  70  286  680  
      
 Share of post-tax earnings of equity accounted investments 59  (70) -  (11) 
      

 Interest payable (72) -  -  (72) 
 Interest receivable 7  -  -  7  
 Other net financing charges (72) -  72  -  

 Net financing costs (137) -  72  (65) 

 Profit before taxation 246  -  358  604  
      
 Taxation (47) -  (90) (137) 

 Profit after tax for the year 199  -  268  467  
 Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (5) -  -  (5) 

 Profit attributable to owners of the parent 194  -  268  462  
   

  2014 

 Sales 6,982  474  -  7,456  

      

 Trading profit 612  75  -  687  
 Change in value of derivative and other financial     
  instruments (209) -  209  -  
 Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets     
  arising on business combinations (69) -  69  -  
 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 24  -  (24) -  
 Impairment charges (69) -  69  -  

 Operating profit 289  75  323  687  
      
 Share of post-tax earnings of equity accounted investments 61  (75) 1  (13) 
      

 Interest payable (75) -  -  (75) 
 Interest receivable 2  -  -  2  
 Other net financing charges (56) -  56  -  

 Net financing costs (129) -  56  (73) 

 Profit before taxation 221  -  380  601  
      
 Taxation (53) -  (74) (127) 

 Profit after tax for the year 168  -  306  474  
 Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (5) -  -  (5) 

 Profit attributable to owners of the parent 163  -  306  469  
  

(b) Summary of management performance measures by segment 
  

  2015 2014 

  Sales  
Trading  

profit  Margin  Sales  
Trading  

profit  Margin  
  £m  £m   £m  £m   

 Aerospace 2,387  291  12.2%  2,226  277  12.4%  
 Driveline 3,548  290  8.2%  3,444  280  8.1%  
 Powder Metallurgy 906  109  12.0%  916  101  11.0%  
 Land Systems 693  24  3.5%  776  44  5.7%  
 Other businesses  42  1   94  5   
 Acquisition - Fokker (Aerospace) 113  (18)  -  -   
 Corporate and unallocated costs -  (17)  -  (20)  

  7,689  680  8.8%  7,456  687  9.2%  
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4  Operating profit   

 The analysis of the additional components of operating profit is shown below:   

    

(a) Trading profit   

  2015  2014  

  £m  £m  

 Sales by subsidiaries 7,231  6,982  

    

 Operating costs    

 Change in stocks of finished goods and work in progress 16  44  

 Raw materials and consumables (3,177) (3,127) 

 Staff costs (note 7) (1,887) (1,809) 

 Reorganisation costs (ii):   

  Redundancy and other employee related amounts (22) (3) 

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (iii) (218) (216) 

 Impairment of property, plant and equipment -  (4) 

 Amortisation of operating intangible assets (43) (32) 

 Operating lease rentals payable:   

  Plant and equipment (18) (17) 

  Property (33) (29) 

 Impairment of trade receivables (4) (5) 

 Amortisation of government capital grants 2  2  

 Net exchange differences on foreign currency transactions 2  8  

 Acquisition related charges (13) -  

 Other costs (v) (1,226) (1,182) 

  (6,621) (6,370) 

 Trading profit 610  612  

  

 (i) EBITDA is subsidiary trading profit before depreciation, impairment and amortisation charges included in 
trading profit.  EBITDA was £871 million (2014: £864 million). 

   

 (ii) Reorganisation costs reflect actions in the ordinary course of business to reduce costs, improve productivity 
and rationalise facilities in continuing operations.  This cost is included in trading profit. 

   

 (iii) Including depreciation charged on assets held under finance leases of less than £1 million (2014: £1 million). 

   

 (iv) Research and development expenditure in subsidiaries was £157 million (2014: £161 million), net of customer 
and government funding. 

   

 (v) Auditors’ remuneration 

The analysis of auditors' remuneration is as follows: 
   

  2015  2014  

   £m  £m  

  Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the audit of the parent company  (0.1) -  
  Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their associates for other   
   services to the Group:   
  - Audit of the accounts of subsidiaries (4.5) (4.0) 

  Total audit fees (4.6) (4.0) 

  - Audit related assurance services (0.1) (0.1) 
  - Tax advisory services (0.3) (0.2) 
  - Tax compliance services (0.5) (0.5) 
  - Other services (0.2) (0.1) 

  Total fees for other services (1.1) (0.9) 

  Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their associates in respect of    
   associated pension schemes:   
  - Audit (0.1) (0.1) 

   (0.1) (0.1) 

  Total fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and their associates (5.8) (5.0) 

     
  All fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company's auditors, include amounts in respect of 

expenses.  All fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been charged to the income statement. 
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(b) Change in value of derivative and other financial instruments 

  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Forward currency contracts (not hedge accounted) (103) (232) 
 Embedded derivatives 1  4  

  (102) (228) 
 Net gains and losses on intra-group funding   
  Arising in year (20) 19  
  Reclassified in year -  -  

  (20) 19  

  (122) (209) 
  

 

IAS 39 requires derivative financial instruments to be valued at the balance sheet date and reflected in the balance 
sheet as an asset or liability.  Any subsequent change in value is reflected in the income statement unless hedge 
accounting is achieved.  Such movements do not affect cash flow or the economic substance of the underlying 
transaction.  In 2015 and 2014 the Group used transactional hedge accounting in a limited number of instances.   

  

(c) Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations  

  
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Marketing related (4) (1) 
 Customer related (57) (56) 
 Technology based (19) (12) 

  (80) (69) 
  

(d) Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 

  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Business sold  (5) -  
 Profit on sale of joint venture -  24  
 Gain on contingent consideration 4  -  

  (1) 24  
  

 

 
On 30 January 2015, the Group sold GKN Sinter Metals Argentina SA for cash consideration of £1 million before 
professional fees.  The loss on sale of £5 million comprises a £1 million loss on disposal of net assets and £4 
million loss from reclassification of previous currency variations from other reserves. 
 
During the year, following reassessment of fair value, £4 million of contingent consideration was released to the 
income statement.   
 
On 31 July 2014, the Group sold its 50% share in Emitec, a joint venture company, for cash consideration of 
£37 million.  The carrying value on the date of disposal was £14 million and £1 million of previous currency 
variations were reclassified from other reserves resulting in a profit on sale of £24 million. 
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  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

(a) Interest payable and fee expense   
  Short term bank and other borrowings  (10) (7) 
  Repayable within five years (34) (36) 
  Repayable after five years (25) (25) 
  Government refundable advances (3) (7) 

  (72) (75) 

 Interest receivable   
  Short term investments, loans and deposits 3  2  
  Tax case net interest recovery (see note 6) 4  -  

 Net interest payable and receivable (65) (73) 

  
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

(b) Other net financing charges   
  Interest charge on net defined benefit plans (49) (50) 

  Fair value changes on cross currency interest rate swaps (17) 3  

  Unwind of discounts (6) (9) 

  (72) (56) 

    
6 Taxation   
(a) Tax expense   
    
  2015  2014  
 Analysis of charge in year £m  £m  

 Current tax (charge)/credit    
  Current year charge (127) (93) 
  Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses and other assets 38  1  
  Net movement on provisions for uncertain tax positions (23) 9  
  Adjustments in respect of prior years 2  (3) 

  (110) (86) 

 Deferred tax (charge)/credit    
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences  30  36  
  Tax on change in value of derivative financial instruments 31  (51) 
  Other changes in unrecognised deferred tax assets 1  44  
  Adjustments in respect of prior years 1  4  

  63  33  

 Total tax charge for the year (47) (53) 

  

 Analysed as: 
  

  2015  2014  
 Tax in respect of management profit £m  £m  

  Current tax  (111) (83) 
  Deferred tax  (26) (44) 

   (137) (127) 

    
 Tax in respect of items excluded from management profit   

  Current tax  1  (3) 
  Deferred tax 89  77  

   90  74  

 Total for tax charge for the year (47) (53) 
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(a) Tax expense (continued) 

  

 

Significant judgements and estimates 

 
The Group operates in many jurisdictions and is subject to tax audits which are often complex and can take several 
years to conclude.  Therefore, the accrual for current tax includes provisions for uncertain tax positions which 
require estimates for each matter and the exercise of judgement in respect of the interpretation of tax laws and the 
likelihood of challenge to historic tax positions.  Where appropriate, estimates of interest and penalties are included 
in these provisions.  As amounts provided for in any year could differ from eventual tax liabilities, subsequent 
adjustments which have a material impact on the Group's tax rate and/or cash tax payments may arise.  Tax 
payments comprise payments on account and payments on the final resolution of open items and, as a result, there 
can be substantial differences between the charge in the income statement and cash tax payments.  Where 
companies utilise brought forward tax losses such that little or no tax is paid, this also results in differences between 
the tax charge and cash tax payments.  With regard to deferred tax, judgement is required for the recognition of 
deferred tax assets, which is based on expectations of future financial performance in particular legal entities or tax 
groups. 
 

  

  2015 2014 
 Tax reconciliation £m  %  £m  %  

 Profit before tax 246   221   
 Less share of post-tax earnings equity accounted investments (59)  (61)  

 Profit before tax excluding equity accounted investments 187   160   
      

 Tax charge calculated at 20.25% (2014: 21.5%) standard UK corporate      
  tax rate (38) (20) (34) (21) 
 Differences between UK and overseas corporate tax rates (34) (18) (16) (10) 
 Non-deductible and non-taxable items 13  7  (56) (35) 
 Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses 1  1  43  27  
 Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses and other assets 38  20  1  1  
 Changes in tax rates (2) (1) (3) (2) 
 Other changes in deferred tax assets (5) (3) 2  1  

 Tax charge on ordinary activities (27) (14) (63) (39) 
 Net movement on provision for uncertain tax positions (23) (12) 9  6  
 Adjustments in respect of prior years 3  1  1  -  

 Total tax charge for the year (47) (25) (53) (33) 

  

(b) Tax included in other comprehensive income 

  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Deferred tax on post-employment obligations (46) 118  
 Deferred tax on foreign currency gains and losses on intra-group funding 1  (4) 
 Current tax on post-employment obligations 4  4  
 Current tax on foreign currency gains and losses on intra-group funding (6) 13  

  (47) 131  

  

    
(c) Current tax   
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Assets 9  8  
 Liabilities (121) (125) 

  (112) (117) 

  

(d) Recognised deferred tax  
  

  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Assets  388  407  
 Liabilities  (157) (223) 

  231  184  
  

 

There is a net £63 million deferred tax credit to the income statement in the year (2014: £33 million credit) and a 
deferred tax charge of £45 million recorded directly in other comprehensive income (2014: £114 million credit).  
These movements are impacted by the recognition and use of deferred tax assets (primarily in respect of actuarial 
losses). 
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(d) Recognised deferred tax (continued) 

 
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction 
as permitted by IAS 12) during the year are shown below: 

      

  Assets  Liabilities  

  Post-        

  employment  Tax    Fixed     

  obligations  losses  Other   assets  Other  Total  

  £m  £m  £m   £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2015 285  93  95   (283) (6) 184  

 Included in the income statement 6  (10) 42   28  (3) 63  

 Included in other comprehensive income  (46) -  1   -  -  (45) 

 Businesses acquired 2  92  17   (74) -  37  

 Currency variations  (2) 1  2   (10) 1  (8) 

 At 31 December 2015 245  176  157   (339) (8) 231  

 At 1 January 2014 169  127  63   (287) (25) 47  

 Included in the income statement -  (32) 28   15  22  33  

 Included in other comprehensive income  118  -  -   -  (4) 114  

 Businesses acquired -  -  -   (1) -  (1) 

 Currency variations  (2) (2) 4   (10) 1  (9) 

 At 31 December 2014 285  93  95   (283) (6) 184  
  

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised where management projections indicate the future availability of taxable profits 
to absorb the deductions. 
 
‘Other’ deferred tax arises mainly in relation to items that are taxable or tax deductible in a different period than the 
income or expense is accrued in the accounts.  Other deferred tax assets include £85 million relating to derivatives 
(2014: £47 million). 

  

(e) Unrecognised deferred tax assets  
  

 
Certain deferred tax assets have not been recognised on the basis that the Group’s ability to utilise them is 
uncertain as shown below.   

     

  2015  2014 

  Tax value  Gross  Expiry  Tax value  Gross  Expiry 

   £m  £m  period  £m  £m  period 

 Tax losses - with expiry: national  106  421  2016-2034  38  114  2015-2033 

 Tax losses - with expiry: local  6  190  2016-2034  9  237  2015-2033 

 Tax losses - without expiry  46  272    49  227   

 Total tax losses 158  883    96  578   

 Other temporary differences  6  32    1  5   

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets  164  915    97  583   
  

 
No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries except where the distribution of 
such profits is planned.  If these earnings were remitted in full, tax of £18 million (2014: £16 million) would be 
payable. 

  

(f) Changes in UK tax rate 

 

A reduction in the mainstream rate of UK corporation tax from 21% to 20% took effect from April 2015 which gives 
rise to an effective rate of 20.25% for the year.  A further reduction to 19% from 1 April 2017 and 18% from 1 April 
2020 have been substantively enacted.  UK temporary differences are measured at the rate at which they are 
expected to reverse. 

  

(g) Franked investment income – litigation 

 

Since 2003, the Group has been involved in litigation with HMRC in respect of various advance corporate tax 
payments and corporate tax paid on certain foreign dividends which, in its view, were levied by HMRC in breach of 
the Group’s EU community law rights.  The most recent High Court judgement in the case was published in 
December 2014.  Although the judgement was broadly positive, it is anticipated that HMRC will appeal at least 
some of the technical points decided. 
 
GKN have received payments from HMRC in respect of the case, principally interest, which have been recognised 
as received.  In August 2015, the Group agreed a settlement of £12 million with HMRC in respect of the Foreign 
Income Dividends element of the claim.  This resulted in an interest receipt, net of restitutional and other charges, 
of £4 million.  The continuing complexity of the remaining case and uncertainty over the issues raised (and in 
particular which points HMRC may seek to appeal) means that it is not possible to predict the final outcome of the 
litigation with any reasonable degree of certainty. 
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7 Employees including Directors 
  
  2015  2014  
 Employee benefit expense  £m  £m  

    
 Wages and salaries (1,513) (1,446) 
 Social security costs (285) (285) 
 Post-employment costs (88) (75) 
 Share-based payments (1) (3) 

  (1,887) (1,809) 

  
    
  2015  2014  
 Average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) Number  Number  

    
 By business    
 Aerospace 13,046  12,114  
 Driveline 20,986  19,962  
 Powder Metallurgy 6,669  6,791  
 Land Systems 4,933  5,109  
 Other businesses 1,215  1,012  
 Corporate 214  198  

 Total 47,063  45,186  

    
 Key management 
  
 The key management of the Group comprises GKN plc Board Directors and members of the Group's 

Executive Committee during the year and their aggregate compensation is shown below.   
    
  2015  2014  
 Key management compensation £m  £m  

    
 Salaries and short term employee benefits 7.3  6.8  
 Post-employment benefits 0.4  0.3  
 Share-based and medium term incentives and benefits 0.3  1.4  

  8.0  8.5  

  
 The amount outstanding at 31 December 2015 in respect of annual short term variable remuneration 

payable in cash was £2.0 million (2014: £1.5 million).  Key management participate in certain incentive 
arrangements where the key performance metric is management earnings per share using the cash tax 
rate.  Management EPS using the cash tax rate is 30.4p (2014:  32.1p).  A total of £331,136 in 
dividends was received by key management in 2015 (2014: £267,158).   
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8 Share-based payments  
 The Group has granted options over shares to employees for a number of years under different schemes.  

Where grants were made after 7 November 2002 they have been accounted for as required by IFRS 2 
"Share-based payment".  Details of awards made since 7 November 2002 that impact the 2015 
accounting charge are:  

  
 Sustainable Earnings Plan (SEP) 

  
 Awards comprising Core and Sustainability Awards were made to Directors and certain senior employees 

in August 2012, March 2013, March 2014 and March 2015.  Core and Sustainability Awards are subject to 
performance targets with Core Awards subject to achievement of EPS growth targets over an initial three 
year performance period and Sustainability Awards subject to the highest level of EPS attained in any 
year during the core performance period being achieved or exceeded in years four and five.  
Sustainability Awards will be reduced to the extent that the target in the core performance period has not 
been met.  Sustainability Awards are measured independently in years four and five.  50% of Core 
Awards will be released at the end of year three; the balance of Core Awards and any Sustainability 
Awards will be released at the end of year five.  There is no provision for retesting performance for either 
the Core or Sustainability Awards.  On vesting, dividends are treated as having accrued on the shares 
from the date of grant to the date of release with the value delivered in either shares or cash. 
 
Details of SEP awards (Core Award and Sustainability Awards) granted during the year are set out below: 
 

  Shares granted during  
year  

Weighted average fair value at  
measurement date  

 2015 SEP awards 7,051,165  3.60  

  
 The fair value of shares awarded under the SEP is calculated as the share price on the grant date. 
  

 Share Incentive and Retention Plan (SIRP) 
  
 Performance Awards and in some cases Restricted Awards were made to certain senior employees in 

October 2015.  Performance Awards are subject to both a management profit before tax target over a two 
year performance period and a one year retention period.  50% of the Performance Awards will be 
measured in the first year of the performance period and 50% in the second year.  There is no provision 
for retesting of performance for the Performance Awards.  Restricted Awards will normally be released at 
the end of a specified deferral period provided that the participant is still employed by GKN.  The 
Restricted Awards are not subject to any performance conditions although they will lapse in the event of 
resignation during the deferral period.  Any awards under the SIRP will be satisfied from shares held in 
the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust. 

  
 Details of SIRP awards granted during the year are set out below: 
  
  Shares granted during  

year  
Weighted average fair value at  

measurement date  

 2015 SIRP awards 4,056,175  2.90  

  
 The fair value of shares awarded under the SIRP is calculated as the share price on the grant date. 
  
 A reconciliation of ESOS option movements over the year to 31 December 2015 is shown below:  
  
  2015 2014 

   Weighted   Weighted   
   average   average  
  Number  exercise price  Number  exercise price  
  000s  pence   000s  pence  

       
 Outstanding at 1 January  3,997  139.31  4,860  143.76  
      
 Forfeited  -  -  (25) 110.08  
 Exercised  (1,578) 136.74  (838) 166.00  

 Outstanding at 31 December  2,419  140.99  3,997  139.31  

 Exercisable at 31 December  2,419  140.99  3,997  139.31  
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8 Share-based payments (continued) 
  
 For options outstanding at 31 December the range of exercise prices and weighted average contractual 

life is shown in the following table:  
  
  2015 2014 

   Contractual   Contractual  
   weighted    weighted   
  Number  average  Number  average  
  of shares  remaining life  of shares  remaining life  
 Range of exercise price  000s  years  000s  years  

 110p-145p  1,901  4.06  3,054  4.92  
 195p-220p  518  5.25  943  6.25  

  
 The weighted average share price during the year for options exercised over the year was 327.6p (2014: 

373.8p).  The total charge for the year relating to share-based payment plans was £1 million (2014: 
£3 million) all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions.  After deferred tax, the 
total charge was £1 million (2014: £3 million). 
 
Liabilities in respect of share-based payments were not material at either 31 December 2015 or 31 
December 2014.  There were no vested rights to cash or other assets at either 31 December 2015 or 31 
December 2014. 
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(a) Goodwill 
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Cost     
 At 1 January 714  698  
 Businesses acquired  104  2  
 Currency variations 22  14  

 At 31 December 840  714  

 Accumulated impairment   
 At 1 January 216  154  
 Charge for the year 23  57  
 Currency variations 10  5  

 At 31 December 249  216  

    
 Net book amount at 31 December 591  498  

  
 The carrying value of goodwill at 31 December comprised: 
  2015  2014  
 Reportable segment Business Geographical location £m  £m  

 Aerospace Aerostructures North America 34  32  
  Engine Systems North America & Europe 42  39  
  Engine Products – West North America 91  97  
  Fokker Europe 103  -  
 Driveline Driveline Americas 119  118  
  Driveline Europe 55  56  
 Powder Metallurgy Hoeganaes North America 24  22  
 Land Systems Power Management Devices Europe 64  67  

    532  431  
 Other businesses not individually significant to the carrying value of goodwill 59  67  

  591  498  

 

 
Impairment charges have been recorded in the Income Statement as an adjusting and non-trading item within the line item 
“impairment charges”, see note 9c for further details. 
 

(b) Other intangible assets 

  2015 

     Assets arising on business combinations  

  Development  Participation  Computer  Marketing  Customer  Technology   

  costs  fees  software  related  related  based  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost        

 At 1 January 2015 436  141  107  14  475  248  1,421  

 Businesses acquired 52  -  -  51  177  43  323  

 Additions 66  9  9  -  -  -  84  

 Disposals (3) -  (13) -  -  -  (16) 

 Currency variations 11  8  2  1  21  12  55  

 At 31 December 2015 562  158  105  66  673  303  1,867  

 Accumulated amortisation         

 At 1 January 2015 97  18  86  4  210  62  477  

 Charge for the year        

  Charged to trading profit 27  8  8  -  -  -  43  

  Non-operating intangible assets -  -  -  4  57  19  80  

  Impairment charges 1  -  -  -  -  -  1  

 Disposals (2) -  (13) -  -  -  (15) 

 Currency variations 1  1  1  -  9  4  16  

 At 31 December 2015 124  27  82  8  276  85  602  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2015 438  131  23  58  397  218  1,265  

        

 

Impairment charges have been recorded in the Income Statement as an adjusting and non-trading item within the line item 
“impairment charges”, see note 9c for further details. 
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9 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued) 

(b) Other intangible assets (continued) 

  2014 

     Assets arising on business combinations  

  Development  Participation  Computer  Marketing  Customer  Technology   

  costs  fees  software  related  related  based  Total  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost          

 At 1 January 2014 366  128  98  12  461  233  1,298  

 Businesses acquired -  -  -  2  -  7  9  

 Additions 63  9  10  -  -  -  82  

 Disposals (6) -  (1) -  -  -  (7) 

 Currency variations 13  4  -  -  14  8  39  

 At 31 December 2014 436  141  107  14  475  248  1,421  

 Accumulated amortisation         

 At 1 January 2014 78  11  79  3  147  48  366  

 Charge for the year        

  Charged to trading profit 18  7  7  -  -  -  32  

  Non-operating intangible assets -  -  -  1  56  12  69  

 Currency variations 1  -  -  -  7  2  10  

 At 31 December 2014 97  18  86  4  210  62  477  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2014 339  123  21  10  265  186  944  

        

 

Development costs of £130 million (2014: £117 million), £6 million (2014: £7 million) and £12 million (2014: £12 million) in respect of 
three aerospace programmes are being amortised on a units of production basis.  There is £17 million (2014: £26 million) in respect 
of a customer relationship asset arising from one previous business combination with a remaining amortisation period of two years 
(2014: three years).  There are other intangible assets of £262 million (2014: £279 million) in respect of four programmes with a 
remaining amortisation period of 22 years (2014: 23 years). 
 

(c) Impairment testing 

 An impairment test is a comparison of the carrying value of the assets of a business or cash generating unit (CGU) to their 
recoverable amount.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value, an impairment results.  For the purposes of 
carrying out impairment tests, the Group's total goodwill has been allocated to a number of CGUs and each of these CGUs has 
been separately assessed and tested.  The size of a CGU varies but is never larger than a primary or secondary reportable 
segment.  In some cases, a CGU is an individual subsidiary or operation. 
 

Consistent with previous years all goodwill, together with CGUs where there were indicators of impairment, was tested for 
impairment.  An impairment charge of £71 million has been recorded in respect of 4 CGUs; 2 in Aerospace, 1 in Powder Metallurgy 
and 1 in Other businesses (2014: £69 million). 
 

An impairment charge in St. Louis, North America (Aerospace) of £49 million follows a downturn in the market and loss of business 
during the year.  The charge comprises goodwill of £8 million, development costs of £1 million and property, plant and equipment of 
£40 million.  The remaining recoverable amount of £70 million represents its value in use, using a discount rate of 12% (2014: 
12%).  The impairment charge is most sensitive to operating cash flows and a 5% change in this assumption would have impacted 
the impairment charge by £4 million. 
 

An impairment charge in Astech, North America (Aerospace) of £14 million follows the loss of key business.  The charge comprises 
goodwill of £13 million and property, plant and equipment of £1 million.  The remaining recoverable amount of £12 million 
represents its value in use, using a discount rate of 12% (2014: 12%).  The impairment charge is most sensitive to operating cash 
flows and a 5% change in this assumption would have impacted the impairment charge by £1 million. 
 

An impairment charge in Sinter Brazil (Powder Metallurgy) of £6 million follows a significant downturn in the market during the year 
and loss of future orders.  The charge only comprises property, plant and equipment.  The remaining recoverable amount of 
£4 million represents its value in use, using a discount rate of 25% (2014: 25%).  The impairment charge is most sensitive to 
operating cash flows but a 5% change in this assumption would not have impacted the impairment charge. 
 

There was a further impairment charge in Other businesses of £2 million, comprising only goodwill. 
 

Significant judgements, assumptions and estimates 
One CGU within the Group, Power Management Devices (Land Systems), has continued to be assessed for impairment using an 
estimation of fair value less costs of disposal based on a multiple of EBITDA and recent comparable market prices.  Due to market 
conditions in the year and the short term nature of its order book, value in use was not considered to be a representative 
assessment for impairment testing.  The relevant assets of Power Management Devices have been assessed against fair value less 
costs of disposal.  The assessment used an assumed EBITDA taking into account past performance, and a market based multiple 
following a review of comparable companies within a peer group.  Sensitivity analysis on this CGU is provided below. 
 

All other CGUs’ recoverable amounts were measured using value in use.  Detailed forecasts for the next five years have been used 
which are based on approved annual budgets and strategic projections representing the best estimate of future performance.  In the 
case of CGUs within the Group’s Aerospace business, value in use was measured using operating cash flow projections covering 
the next ten years which incorporate the anticipated timing of volumes on current programmes.  Management consider forecasting 
over this period to more appropriately reflect the length of business cycle of those CGU’s programmes. 
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(c) Impairment testing (continued) 

Significant judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued) 
 

 

 

During the year there has been one change in the composition of the Group’s CGUs; splitting a CGU in Aerospace North America 
into two separate CGUs based on changes to the business including management team, market approach and contracts, effective 
from 1 January 2015.  One of these 2 CGUs, Astech, subsequently lost a key contract in the fourth quarter and as a consequence 
was impaired (see above). 
 

In determining the value in use of CGUs it is necessary to make a series of assumptions to estimate the present value of future 
cash flows.  In each case, these key assumptions have been made by management reflecting past experience and are consistent 
with relevant external sources of information. 
 
Operating cash flows 
The main assumptions within forecast operating cash flow include the achievement of future sales prices and volumes (including 
reference to specific customer relationships, product lines and the use of industry relevant external forecasts of global vehicle 
production within Automotive businesses and consideration of specific volumes on certain military and commercial programmes 
within Aerospace), raw material input costs, the cost structure of each CGU and the ability to realise benefits from annual 
productivity improvements, the impact of foreign currency rates upon selling price and cost relationships and the levels of 
maintaining capital expenditure required to support forecast production.   

Pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates 
Pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates are derived from risk-free rates based on long term government bonds in the territory, or 
territories, within which each CGU operates.  A relative risk adjustment (or “beta”) has been applied to risk-free rates to reflect the 
risk inherent in each CGU relative to all other sectors on average, determined using an average of the betas of comparable listed 
companies.  

The range of pre-tax risk adjusted discount rates set out below have been used for impairment testing.  The range of rates reflects 
the mix of geographical territories within CGUs within the reportable segments. 

Aerospace: UK 9% (2014: 9%), Europe 8% (2014: 8%) and North America 12% (2014: 12%) 
Driveline:  North and South America 14%-25% (2014: 14%-25%), Europe 9%-12% (2014: 9%-12%) and Japan and Asia Pacific 
region countries 10%-20% (2014: 10%-20%) 
Powder Metallurgy:  Europe 10% (2014: 10%), North America 14% (2014: 14%) and South America 25% (2014: 25%) 
Land Systems: Europe 9%-12% (2014: 9%-12%) and North America 14% (2014: 14%) 
 
Long term growth rates 
To forecast beyond the detailed cash flows into perpetuity, a long term average growth rate has been used.  In each case, this is 
not greater than the published International Monetary Fund average growth rate in gross domestic product for the next five year 
period in the territory or territories where the CGU is primarily based.  This results in a range of nominal growth rates:  
 
Aerospace: UK 3% (2014: 3%), Europe 2% (2014: 2%) and North America 3% (2014: 3%) 
Driveline:  North and South America 3%-6% (2014: 3%-6%), Europe 2%-4% (2014: 2%-4%) and Japan and Asia Pacific region 
countries 2%-10% (2014: 2%-10%) 
Powder Metallurgy: Europe 2% (2014: 2%) and North America 3% (2014: 3%) 
Land Systems: Europe 2%-4% (2014: 2%-4%) and North America 3% (2014: 3%) 
 
Goodwill sensitivity analysis  
The results of the Group’s impairment tests are dependent on estimates and judgements made by management, particularly in 
relation to the key assumptions described above.  Sensitivity analysis to potential changes in key assumptions has therefore been 
reviewed.   
 
At 31 December 2015, the date of the Group's annual impairment test, the estimated recoverable amount of one CGU within the 
Group's Aerospace operations using value in use and one CGU within the Group’s Land Systems operations using fair value less 
costs of disposal exceeded their carrying value by £38 million and £22 million respectively.   
 
The table below shows the discount rate, long term growth rate and forecast operating cashflow assumptions used in the 
calculation of value in use and the amount by which each assumption must change in isolation in order for the estimated 
recoverable amount to equal the carrying value. 

  

 Segment Aerospace 

 Business Engine Products - West  

 Value in use excess over carrying value £38m  

   

 Assumptions used in calculation of value in use  

  Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 12%  

  Long term growth rate 3%  

  Total pre-discounted forecast operating cashflow £467m  

 Change required for the carrying value to exceed the recoverable amount  

  Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 2.1%pts  

  Long term growth rate 5.7%pts  

  Total pre-discounted forecast operating cashflow 20%  
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(c) Impairment testing (continued) 

Goodwill sensitivity analysis (continued) 
 

 
The table below shows the assumptions used in the calculation of fair value less costs of disposal and the amount by which each 
assumption must change in isolation in order for the estimated recoverable amount to equal the carrying value. 

  

 Segment Land Systems 

 Business 
Power Management 

Devices  

 Fair value less costs of disposal excess over carrying value £22m  

   

 Assumptions used in calculation of fair value less costs of disposal  

  EBITDA £17m  

  Multiple 8.5  

 Change required for the carrying value to exceed the recoverable amount  

  EBITDA 15%  

  Multiple 15%pts  
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  2015 

    Other  Capital   

  Land and  Plant and  tangible  work in   

  buildings  machinery  assets  progress  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost           

 At 1 January 2015 780  3,923  149  245  5,097  

 Businesses acquired 25  34  3  5  67  

 Additions  22  122  5  185  334  

 Disposals  (16) (65) (8) -  (89) 

 Businesses sold (1) (3) -  -  (4) 

 Transfers  8  143  7  (158) -  

 Currency variations  2  (13) -  8  (3) 

 At 31 December 2015 820  4,141  156  285  5,402  

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment      

 At 1 January 2015 251  2,670  116  -  3,037  

 Charge for the year      

  Charged to trading profit       

     Depreciation 21  188  9  -  218  

  Impairment charges 22  25  -  -  47  

 Disposals  (14) (62) (8) -  (84) 

 Businesses sold (1) (3) -  -  (4) 

 Currency variations  1  (13) -  -  (12) 

 At 31 December 2015 280  2,805  117  -  3,202  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2015 540  1,336  39  285  2,200  

   

   

  2014 

    Other  Capital   

  Land and  Plant and  tangible  work in   

  buildings  machinery  assets  progress  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Cost           

 At 1 January 2014 776  3,806  149  168  4,899  

 Businesses acquired -  1  -  -  1  

 Additions  16  85  4  248  353  

 Disposals  (13) (96) (7) -  (116) 

 Transfers  6  164  8  (178) -  

 Currency variations  (5) (37) (5) 7  (40) 

 At 31 December 2014 780  3,923  149  245  5,097  

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment      

 At 1 January 2014 237  2,600  117  -  2,954  

 Charge for the year      

  Charged to trading profit       

     Depreciation 21  185  10  -  216  

     Impairments  -  4  -  -  4  

  Impairment charges -  8  -  -  8  

 Disposals  (8) (90) (7) -  (105) 

 Currency variations  1  (37) (4) -  (40) 

 At 31 December 2014 251  2,670  116  -  3,037  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2014 529  1,253  33  245  2,060  

   

 

Included within other tangible assets at net book amount are fixtures, fittings and computers £37 million (2014: £32 million) and 
commercial vehicles and cars £2 million (2014: £1 million).  The net book amount of assets under finance leases is £3 million 
(2014: £1 million) representing land and buildings only. 
 

 
Impairment charges have been recorded in the Income Statement as an adjusting and non-trading item within the line item 
“impairment charges”, see note 9c for further details. 
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 Group share of results   

  2015  2014  

  £m  £m  

 Sales  458  474  

 Operating costs  (388) (399) 

 Trading profit  70  75  

 Net financing costs  (1) (1) 

 Profit before taxation  69  74  

 Taxation  (10) (12) 

 Share of post-tax earnings - before adjusting and non-trading items 59  62  

 Adjusting and non-trading items -  (1) 

 Share of post-tax earnings  59  61  

    

 
Adjusting and non-trading items represent amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on business 
combinations and other net financing charges. 

  

 Group share of net book amount 

  2015 2014 

  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 174  179  

 Share of post-tax earnings  59  61  

 Dividends paid (55) (44) 

 Businesses acquired 16  -  

 Disposals -  (14) 

 Currency variations 1  2  

  195  184  

 Financial guarantee contract -  (10) 

 At 31 December 195  174  

    

  2015  2014  

  £m  £m  

 Non-current assets  153  116  

 Current assets  256  159  

 Current liabilities  (202) (95) 

 Non-current liabilities  (12) (6) 

   195  174  

    

 

Equity accounted investments have no significant contingent liabilities to which the Group is exposed and nor has 
the Group any significant contingent liabilities in relation to its interest in the equity accounted investments.  The 
share of capital commitments of the equity accounted investments is shown in note 25. 
 
The principal addition within businesses acquired relates to Société Anonyme Belge de Constructions 
Aéronautiques (SABCA).  SABCA was acquired with the purchase of Fokker Technologies Group B.V. (see note 
28) and its results from the date of acquisition, on 28 October 2015, were not significant to the Group. 
 
The Group has one significant joint venture within Driveline, Shanghai GKN HUAYU Driveline Systems Co 
Limited (SDS), with sales of £373 million (2014: £351 million), trading profit of £67 million (2014: £66 million) and 
a tax charge of £10 million (2014: £11 million) leaving retained profit of £57 million (2014: £55 million).  Net 
assets of £143 million (2014: £138 million) comprise non-current assets of £103 million (2014: £91 million), 
current assets of £145 million (2014: £122 million), current liabilities of £105 million (2014: £75 million) and non-
current liabilities of nil (2014: nil).  During 2015, SDS paid a dividend to the Group of £52 million (2014: 
£42 million).  Further information about SDS can be found in note 8 to the GKN plc company accounts. 
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  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Investments 2  -  
 Indirect taxes and amounts recoverable under employee benefit plans 17  20  
 Other receivables 23  24  

   42  44  

  

 
Included in other receivables is a £7 million (2014: £7 million) indemnity asset. 
 

  

13 Inventories  

  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Raw materials  448  395  
 Work in progress  467  383  
 Finished goods  255  193  

  1,170  971  

 

 

Inventories of £49 million (2014: £36 million) are carried at net realisable value.  The amount of any write down of 
inventory recognised as an expense in the year was nil (2014: nil).   
 

14 Trade and other receivables  

  2015  2014  
   £m  £m  

 Trade receivables  1,094  1,024  
 Amounts owed by equity accounted investments 12  12  
 Other receivables  131  119  
 Prepayments  34  31  
 Indirect taxes recoverable  40  40  

   1,311  1,226  

 Provisions for doubtful debts against trade receivables    
 At 1 January  (10) (8) 
 Charge for the year   
  Additions (4) (5) 
  Unused amounts reversed  4  1  
 Amounts used  1  2  
 Currency variations (2) -  

 At 31 December  (11) (10) 

 Trade receivables subject to provisions for doubtful debts  13  10  

 
   Ageing analysis of trade receivables and amounts owed by equity accounted investments past due  
     but not impaired   

    Up to 30 days overdue  64  46  
    31 – 60 days overdue  16  8  
    61 – 90 days overdue  4  3  
    More than 90 days overdue  31  8  

  

 There is no provision against other receivable categories. 
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  2015 2014 

  Current  Non-current  Current  Non-current  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Amounts owed to suppliers and customers (1,242) (29) (1,202) (26) 
 Amounts owed to equity accounted investments (12) -  (8) -  
 Accrued interest (25) -  (17) -  
 Government refundable advances (8) (78) (3) (43) 
 Deferred and contingent consideration -  (2) (6) (3) 
 Payroll taxes, indirect taxes and audit fees (98) (31) (98) (1) 
 Amounts due to employees and employee benefit plans (216) (36) (176) (38) 
 Government grants (1) (8) (1) (7) 
 Customer advances and deferred income (155) (241) (100) (84) 

  (1,757) (425) (1,611) (202) 

 

 
Government refundable advances are forecast to fall due for repayment between 2016 and 2055.   
 
 
Non-current deferred and contingent consideration falls due as follows:  one-two years £2 million (2014: nil), two-five 
years nil (2014: £1 million) and over five years nil (2014: £2 million).  Non-current amounts owed to suppliers and 
customers fall due within two years. 
 

Contingent consideration of £2 million (2014: £6 million) will be paid based on achievement of specific technology 
milestones in Sheets Manufacturing Inc. (SMI), see note 28 for further details.  During 2015, a further £6 million was 
paid in cash relating to the Filton acquisition during 2009, in addition to the first milestone payment of £1 million for 
SMI. 
 
Included within amounts owed to suppliers and customers is £61 million (2014: £33 million) payable to banks in 
respect of supply chain finance arrangements. 
 
Customer advances and deferred income comprises cash receipts from customers in advance of the Group 
completing its performance obligations.  Non-current amounts in respect of customer advances and deferred income 
fall due as follows:  one-two years £44 million (2014: £17 million), two-five years £108 million (2014: £21 million) and 
over five years £89 million (2014: £46 million). 
 
The significant increase during the year has principally arisen following a specific aerospace customer advanced 
payment in respect of development costs. 
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(a) Analysis of net borrowings  

  Notes  Current    Non-current Total  

   Within   One to two  Two to five  More than  Total   
   one year   years  years  five years    
    £m    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2015         
 Unsecured capital market borrowings         
  £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond  i -   -  -  (445) (445) (445) 
  £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond   i -   -  (349) -  (349) (349) 
 Unsecured committed bank borrowings         
  European Investment Bank i (16)  (16) (32) -  (48) (64) 
  2019 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  -   -  -  -  -  -  
  Other (net of unamortised issue costs)  (9)  (11) (8) (3) (22) (31) 
 Finance lease obligations  iii -   -  (1) (2) (3) (3) 
 Bank overdrafts   (8)  -  -  -  -  (8) 
 Other short term bank borrowings   (104)  -  -  -  -  (104) 

 Borrowings   (137)  (27) (390) (450) (867) (1,004) 

 Bank balances and cash   227   -  -  -  -  227  
 Short term bank deposits  ii 72   -  -  -  -  72  

 Cash and cash equivalents iv 299   -  -  -  -  299  
 Other financial assets – bank deposits  5   -  -  -  -  5  

 
Net borrowings (excluding cross 
   currency interest rate swaps)   167   (27) (390) (450) (867) (700) 

 Cross currency interest rate swaps  -   -  -  (69) (69) (69) 

 Net debt  167   (27) (390) (519) (936) (769) 

          

 2014         
 Unsecured capital market borrowings         
  £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond  i -   -  -  (445) (445) (445) 
  £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond   i -   -  (348) -  (348) (348) 
 Unsecured committed bank borrowings         
  European Investment Bank i (16)  (16) (48) -  (64) (80) 
  2019 Committed Revolving Credit Facility  -   -  -  -  -  -  
  Other (net of unamortised issue costs)  (4)  (14) (5) -  (19) (23) 
 Finance lease obligations  iii -   -  (1) -  (1) (1) 
 Bank overdrafts   (2)  -  -  -  -  (2) 
 Other short term bank borrowings   (21)  -  -  -  -  (21) 

 Borrowings   (43)  (30) (402) (445) (877) (920) 

 Bank balances and cash   145   -  -  -  -  145  
 Short term bank deposits  ii 174   -  -  -  -  174  

 Cash and cash equivalents iv 319   -  -  -  -  319  
 Other financial assets – bank deposits  3   -  -  -  -  3  

 
Net borrowings (excluding cross 
   currency interest rate swaps)   279   (30) (402) (445) (877) (598) 

 Cross currency interest rate swaps  -   -  -  (26) (26) (26) 

 Net debt  279   (30) (402) (471) (903) (624) 

          

 

Unsecured capital market borrowings include: an unsecured £350 million (2014: £350 million) 6¾% bond maturing in 2019 less 
unamortised issue costs of £1 million (2014: £2 million) and an unsecured £450 million (2014: £450 million) 5⅜% bond maturing 
in 2022 less unamortised issue costs of £5 million (2014: £5 million).   
 
Unsecured committed bank borrowings include £64 million (2014: £80 million) drawn under the Group’s European Investment 
Bank unsecured facility which attracts a fixed interest rate of 4.1% per annum payable annually in arrears and a borrowing of 
£15 million (2014: nil) drawn against a KfW amortising unsecured facility which attracts a fixed interest rate of 1.65%.  On 22 
June 2015, the Group repaid the first of five annual instalments of £16 million.  There were no drawings (2014: nil) at the year 
end against the Group’s 2019 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities of £800 million (2014: £800 million).  Unamortised issue 
costs on the 2019 Committed Revolving Credit Facilities were £4 million (2014: £5 million). 
 
Notes  
 

 (i) Denotes borrowings at fixed rates of interest until maturity.  All other borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are at 
variable interest rates unless otherwise stated. 

   
 (ii) The average interest rate on short term bank deposits was 0.4% (2014: 0.4%).  Deposits at both 31 December 2015 and 31 

December 2014 had a maturity date of less than one month. 
   
 (iii) Finance lease obligations gross of finance charges fall due as follows: £1 million within one year (2014: nil), £1 million in 

one to five years (2014: £1 million) and £5 million in more than five years (2014: nil). 
   
 (iv) £9 million (2014: £8 million) of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits are held by the Group’s captive 

insurance company to maintain solvency requirements and as collateral for Letters of Credit issued to the Group’s principal 
external insurance providers.  These funds cannot be circulated within the Group on demand. 
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16 Net borrowings (continued) 
(b) Fair values  

  2015 2014 

  Book value  Fair value  Book value  Fair value  
  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Borrowings, other financial assets and cash and cash equivalents       
 Other borrowings  (889) (971) (896) (1,025) 
 Finance lease obligations  (3) (3) (1) (1) 
 Bank overdrafts and other short term bank borrowings  (112) (112) (23) (23) 
 Bank balances and cash  227  227  145  145  
 Short term bank deposits and other financial assets 77  77  177  177  

  (700) (782) (598) (727) 

 Trade and other payables     
 Government refundable advances (86) (104) (46) (51) 
 Deferred and contingent consideration (2) (2) (9) (9) 

  (88) (106) (55) (60) 

 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used in estimating fair values for financial instruments: 
 
Unsecured bank overdrafts, other short term bank borrowings, bank balances and cash, short term bank deposits and other 
financial assets approximate to book value due to their short maturities.  For other amounts, the repayments which the Group is 
committed to make have been discounted at the relevant interest rates applicable at 31 December 2015.  Bonds included within 
other borrowings have been valued using quoted closing market values.   

  

17 Financial risk management  
 

 

The Group’s activities give rise to a number of financial risks:  market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  Market risk includes 
foreign currency risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk.  The Group has in place risk management policies that seek 
to limit the effects of financial risk on financial performance.  Derivative financial instruments include; forward foreign currency 
contracts, which are used to hedge risk exposures that arise in the ordinary course of business and cross currency interest rate 
swaps which hedge cash flows on the Group’s debt.  Further information is provided in the treasury management section of the  
Strategic Report. 
 
Risk management policies have been set by the Board and are implemented by a central Treasury Department that receives 
regular reports from all the operating companies to enable prompt identification of financial risks so that appropriate actions may 
be taken.  The Treasury Department has a policy and procedures manual that sets out specific guidelines to manage foreign 
currency risks, interest rate risk, financial credit risk and liquidity risk and the use of financial instruments to manage these. 
 

 

(a) Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases by operating subsidiaries in currencies 
other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency.  These exposures are forecast on a monthly basis by operating companies 
and are reported to the central Treasury Department.  Under the Group’s foreign currency policy, such exposures are 
hedged on a reducing percentage basis over a number of forecast time horizons using forward foreign currency contracts. 
 
During the year the Group designated a US dollar loan, drawn in relation to the purchase of Fokker Technologies (see note 
30), as part of a net investment hedge of US dollar net assets.  In the prior year the Group entered a series of cross 
currency interest rate swap instruments with its relationship banks which in substance convert the 2019 and 2022 sterling 
bonds into US dollars ($951 million) and Euros (€284 million).  These derivative instruments were also designated as net 
investment hedges, of US dollar and Euro net assets.  Foreign exchange movements arising from net investment hedging 
are shown in note 18. 
 
The Group acquired a portfolio of forward foreign currency contracts with the purchase of Fokker valued on acquisition at a 
liability of £68 million. 
 
The Group’s reporting currency for its consolidated financial statements is sterling.  Changes in exchange rates will affect 
the translation of results and net assets of operations outside of the UK.  The Group's largest exposures are the euro and 
the US dollar where a 1% movement in the average rate impacts trading profit of subsidiaries and joint ventures by £1 
million and £5 million respectively. 
 
Regarding financial instruments a 1% strengthening of sterling against the currency rates indicated below would have the 
following impact on operating profit: 

        

    Trading profit:    

    Payables  Derivative   
    and  financial  Intra-group  
    receivables  instruments  funding  
    £m  £m  £m  

  Euro  0.2  (6) 0.3  
  US dollar   (1.0) 27  2.3  

        

  

The derivative sensitivity analysis has been prepared by reperforming the calculations used to determine the balance sheet 
values adjusted for the changes in the individual currency rates indicated with all other cross currency rates remaining 
constant.  The sensitivity is a fair value change relating to derivatives for which the underlying transaction has not occurred 
at 31 December 2015.  The Group intends to hold all such derivatives to maturity.  The calculation for other items has been 
prepared based on an analysis of a currency balance sheet.  
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 (a) Foreign currency risk (continued) 

 

  
Analysis of net borrowings (excluding cross currency interest rate swaps) by currency: 
 

   2015 

 

2014 

 

   Borrowings  

Cash and  
bank  

deposits  Total  Borrowings  

Cash and  
cash  

equivalents  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

  Sterling  (856) 74  (782) (869) 188  (681) 
  US dollar  (30) 61  31  (1) 31  30  
  Euro   (81) 70  (11) -  24  24  
  Others  (37) 99  62  (50) 79  29  

   (1,004) 304  (700) (920) 322  (598) 

   

 

(b) Interest rate risk 
 
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk on fixed rate borrowings and cash flow interest rate risk on variable 
rate net borrowings/funds.  The Group's policy is to optimise the interest cost in reported earnings and reduce volatility in 
the debt related element of the Group's cost of capital.  This policy is achieved by maintaining a target range of fixed and 
floating rate debt for discrete annual periods, over a defined time horizon.  The Group's normal policy is to require interest 
rates to be fixed for 50% to 80% of the level of underlying borrowings forecast to arise over a 12 month horizon.  At 31 
December 2015, 93% (2014: 96%) of the Group's gross borrowings were subject to fixed interest rates.     
 
As at 31 December 2015, £72 million (2014: £174 million) was in bank deposits and £5 million was on deposit with banks 
on the Isle of Man (2014: £3 million). 
 

 (c) Credit risk 
 
The Group is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to financial instruments.  
In terms of substance, and consistent with the related balance sheet presentation, the Group considers it has two types of 
credit risk; operational and financial.  Operational credit risk relates to non-performance by customers in respect of trade 
receivables and by suppliers in respect of other receivables.  Financial credit risk relates to non-performance by banks and 
similar institutions in respect of cash and deposits, facilities and financial contracts, including forward foreign currency 
contracts and cross currency interest rate swaps. 
 
Operational  
 
As tier-one suppliers to aerospace, automotive and land systems original equipment manufacturers the Group may have 
substantial amounts outstanding with a single customer at any one time.  The credit profiles of such original equipment 
manufacturers are available from credit rating agencies.  The failure of any such customer to honour its debts could 
materially impact the Group's results.  However, there are many advantages in these relationships.  In Land Systems there 
are a greater proportion of amounts receivable from small and medium sized customers.   
 
Credit risk and customer relationships are managed at a number of levels within the Group.  At a subsidiary level 
documented credit control reviews are required to be held at least every month.  The scope of these reviews includes 
amounts overdue and credit limits.  At a divisional level debtor ratios, overdue accounts and overall performance are 
reviewed regularly.  Provisions for doubtful debts are determined at these levels based upon the customer's ability to pay 
and other factors in the Group's relationship with the customer.   
 
At 31 December the largest 5 trade receivables as a proportion of total trade receivables analysed by major segment is as 
follows: 

     

   2015  2014  
    %  %  

  Aerospace 58  74  
  Driveline 58  57  
  Powder Metallurgy 24  24  
  Land Systems 24  24  

     

  

The amount of trade receivables outstanding at the year end does not represent the maximum exposure to operational 
credit risk due to the normal patterns of supply and payment over the course of a year.  Based on management information 
collected as at month ends the maximum level of trade receivables at any one point during the year was £1,240 million 
(2014: £1,199 million). 
 
Financial 
 
Credit risk is mitigated by the Group’s policy of only selecting counterparties with a strong investment grade long term 
credit rating, normally at least A- or equivalent, and assigning financial limits to individual counterparties. 
 
The maximum exposure with a single bank for deposits is £30 million (2014: £35 million), however, the Group is not 
exposed to mark to market risk for forward foreign currency contracts at 31 December 2015 as all counterparties were in a 
liability position (2014: nil).   

   

  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 48 of 82 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 
17 Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 (d) Capital risk management 

   

  

The Group defines capital as total equity.  The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
a capital structure which optimises the cost of capital.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 
 

  

The Group's two external banking covenants require an EBITDA of subsidiaries to net interest payable and receivable ratio 
of 3.5 times or more and net debt to EBITDA of subsidiaries ratio of 3 times or less measured at 30 June and 31 
December.  For the purpose of testing net debt to EBITDA, there is also a requirement to recalculate reported net debt 
using the Group’s average exchange rates, as quoted in the Business Review, over the relevant financial year.  The ratios 
at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were as follows: 

     

   2015 2014  

   £m  £m  

  EBITDA to net interest payable and receivable ratio  13.4 times  11.8 times  

  Net debt to EBITDA ratio 0.9 times  0.7 times  

  

 

Net debt for the year ended 31 December 2015 using average exchange rates was £732 million (2014: £593 million) which 
results in a net debt to EBITDA ratio of 0.8 times (2014: 0.7 times). 
 
The Group monitors these ratios on a rolling basis and they are part of the budgeting and forecasting processes. 

   

 (e) Liquidity risk 

   

  

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as part of its normal financing and trading cycle at times when peak borrowings are 
required.  Borrowings normally peak in May and September following dividend and bond coupon payments.  The Group's 
policies are to ensure that sufficient liquidity is available to meet obligations when they fall due and to maintain sufficient 
flexibility in order to fund investment and acquisition objectives.  Liquidity needs are assessed through short and long term 
forecasts.  Committed bank facilities under a revolving credit facility total £800 million which expires in 2019.  There were no 
drawings on these facilities at 31 December 2015.  In addition the Group’s European Investment Bank unsecured facility 
(£64 million) is repayable in four remaining equal annual instalments of £16 million in June 2016-2019.  Committed facilities 
are provided through 14 banks. 
 
The Group also maintains £127 million of uncommitted facilities, provided by 5 banks.  There were no drawings against 
these facilities at 31 December 2015. 

   

  Maturity analysis of borrowings, derivatives and other financial liabilities  

   Within  One to two  Two to five  More than   

   one year  years  years  five years  Total  

   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

  2015           

  Borrowings (note 16) (137) (27) (390) (450) (1,004) 

  Contractual interest payments and finance lease charges  (63) (51) (123) (51) (288) 

  Government refundable advances (8) (13) (21) (122) (164) 

  Deferred and contingent consideration -  (2) -  -  (2) 

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - receipts  1,266  730  1,411  657  4,064  

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - payments  (1,410) (829) (1,595) (685) (4,519) 

  2014           

  Borrowings (note 16) (43) (30) (402) (445) (920) 

  Contractual interest payments and finance lease charges  (53) (51) (151) (74) (329) 

  Government refundable advances (3) (3) (12) (56) (74) 

  Deferred and contingent consideration (6) -  (2) (7) (15) 

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - receipts  819  606  1,214  643  3,282  

  Derivative financial instruments liabilities - payments  (894) (653) (1,310) (662) (3,519) 

   

  

There is no significant difference in the contractual undiscounted value of other financial assets and liabilities from the 
amounts stated in the balance sheet and balance sheet notes. 
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 (f) Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities  

   

     Held for trading  

   Loans and  Amortised  Financial  Financial   

   receivables  cost  assets  liabilities  Total  

    £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

  2015           

  Other receivables  23  -  -  -  23  

  Trade and other receivables  1,237  -  -  -  1,237  

  Amounts receivable from parent undertaking  2,009  -  -  -  2,009  

  Amounts payable to parent undertaking -  (6) -  -  (6) 

  Derivative financial instruments  -  -  34  (445) (411) 

  Cash and cash equivalents  299  -  -  -  299  

  Other financial assets – bank deposits 5  -  -  -  5  

  Borrowings  -  (1,004) -  -  (1,004) 

  Trade and other payables  -  (1,396) -  -  (1,396) 

  Provisions  -  (33) -  -  (33) 

   3,566  (2,439) 34  (445) 716 

  2014           

  Other receivables  24  -  -  -  24  

  Trade and other receivables  1,155  -  -  -  1,155 

  Amounts receivable from parent undertaking 2,064 -  -  -  2,064 

  Amounts payable to parent undertaking -  (7) -  -  (7) 

  Derivative financial instruments  -  -  26  (224) (198) 

  Cash and cash equivalents  319  -  -  -  319  

  Other financial assets – bank deposits 3  -  -  -  3  

  Borrowings  -  (920) -  -  (920) 

  Trade and other payables  -  (1,308) -  -  (1,308) 

  Provisions  -  (66) -  -  (66) 

   3,565  (2,301) 26  (224) 1,066 

   

  

IFRS13 
 
The financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are forward currency contracts, 
cross currency interest rate swaps and embedded derivatives.  All of these financial instruments are classified as Level 2 fair 
value measurements, as defined by IFRS 7, being those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable. 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities have been determined with reference to available market 
information at the balance sheet date, using the methodologies described in their relevant notes: 
 

 Forward foreign currency contracts, cross currency interest rate swaps and embedded derivatives, see note 18; 

 Unsecured bank overdrafts, other short term bank borrowings, bank balances and cash, short term bank deposits and 
other financial assets, see note 16; 

 Fair value less costs of disposal for impairment testing of one CGU, see note 9; 

 Bonds included within other borrowings, see note 16; and 

 Fair values of trade receivables and payables, short-term investments and cash and cash equivalents are assumed to 
approximate to cost due to the short-term maturity of the instruments and as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

 
The discounted contingent element of deferred and contingent consideration of £2 million (2014: £6 million) is categorised as 
a Level 3 fair value measurement, see note 15.  All other financial assets and liabilities together with calculations for fair 
value less costs of disposal were categorised as Level 2. 
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18 Derivative financial instruments 

  
a) The balances at 31 December 2015 comprise: 

 

  2015 2014 

  Assets Liabilities Total  Assets Liabilities Total  

  
Non-  

current 
Current  Non-  

current 
Current   Non-  

current 
Current  Non-  

current 
Current   

  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Forward currency contracts           

  Not hedge accounted 3  10  (214) (150) (351) 4  7  (116) (75) (180) 

 Embedded derivatives 18  3  (11) (1) 9  12  3  (6) (1) 8  

 Cross currency interest           

  rate swaps -  -  (69) -  (69) -  -  (26) -  (26) 

  21  13  (294) (151) (411) 16  10  (148) (76) (198) 

            

  
b) The movement in derivative financial instruments during the year was: 

 

  

Forward  
currency  
contracts 

Embedded  
derivatives  

Cross  
currency  

interest rate  
swaps  Total 

  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2015 (180) 8  (26) (198) 

 Charge to “change in value of derivative and other financial     

  instruments” or “other net financing charges” (103) 1  (17) (119) 

 Businesses acquired (68) -  -  (68) 

 Charge to equity -  -  (26) (26) 

 At 31 December 2015 (351) 9  (69) (411) 

  

 

Net investment hedging 
 
In addition to the £26 million charge (2014: £30 million charge) from a spot rate foreign exchange movement on cross currency 
interest rate swaps, designated as a net investment hedge, there is a further £11 million charge (2014: nil) from foreign exchange 
movements on loans designated as net investment hedges.  This £37 million charge (2014: £30 million charge) is recorded in 
other comprehensive income. 
 
Cash flow hedging 
 
In order to mitigate exposure to foreign currency risk on the consideration paid to acquire Fokker Technologies (see note 30), the 
Group entered into a number of forward currency contracts to fix the sterling value of the euro denominated consideration.  Cash 
flow hedge accounting was applied as the purchase was deemed a highly probable transaction, which resulted in a ‘gain’ of £5 
million being taken to the hedging reserve.  On settlement of the consideration on 28 October 2015, the £5 million gain was 
recycled into the purchase price used for calculating goodwill. 
 
Significant judgement and estimates 
 
Forward foreign currency contracts, cross currency interest rate swaps and embedded derivatives are marked to market using 
market observable rates and published prices together with forecast cash flow information where applicable.  The amounts in 
respect of embedded derivatives represent commercial contracts denominated in US dollars between European Aerospace 
subsidiaries and customers outside the USA. 
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  Contract   Claims and  Employee    
  provisions  Warranty  litigation  obligations  Other  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2015 (66) (44) (17) (23) (13) (163) 

 Businesses acquired (1) (5) (27) -  -  (33) 

 Net (charge)/credit for the year:       

  Additions  (1) (20) (12) (3) (3) (39) 

  Unused amounts reversed 32  16  3  1  2  54  

 Unwind of discounts (5) (1) -  -  -  (6) 

 Amounts used  8  13  4  3  5  33  

 Currency variations  -  (2) (1) 1  -  (2) 

 At 31 December 2015 (33) (43) (50) (21) (9) (156) 

 Due within one year  (6) (22) (40) (3) (7) (78) 
 Due in more than one year  (27) (21) (10) (18) (2) (78) 

   (33) (43) (50) (21) (9) (156) 

  

 

Significant judgements and estimates 

Whilst estimating provisions requires judgement, the range of reasonably possible outcomes is narrow.  After 
consideration of sensitivity analysis, amounts stated represent management’s best estimate of the likely outcome.  
Further detail of movements in the year are disclosed in note 2b. 
 
Contract provisions 

The Group has a small number of onerous contracts and a non-beneficial lease arrangement, primarily arising on 
business combinations and contractual dispute maters.  Onerous contracts relate to customer programmes 
where the unavoidable costs of delivering product are in excess of contracted sales prices.  Utilisation of the 
provision due in more than one year is estimated as £5 million in 2017 and £22 million from 2018. 
 
Warranty 

Provisions set aside for warranty exposures either relate to amounts provided systematically based on historical 
experience under contractual warranty obligations attaching to the supply of goods or specific provisions created 
in respect of individual customer issues undergoing commercial resolution and negotiation.  In the event of a 
claim, settlement will be negotiated with the customer based on supply of replacement products and 
compensation for the customer's associated costs.  Amounts set aside represent management's best estimate of 
the likely settlement and the timing of any resolution with the relevant customer.  Utilisation of the provision due in 
more than one year is estimated as £14 million in 2017 and £7 million from 2018. 
 
Claims and litigation 

Claims provisions are held in the Group’s captive insurance company and amount to £9 million (2014: £9 million).  
Claims provisions and charges are established in accordance with external insurance and actuarial advice. 
 
Legal provisions amounting to £36 million (2014: £5 million) relate to management estimates of amounts required 
to settle or remove litigation actions that have arisen in the normal course of business or taken on as a result of a 
business combination.  Included in businesses acquired is an amount in relation to Fokker’s services division who 
voluntarily disclosed violations to US regulators before the Group’s acquisition relating to historical conduct 
involving transactions and customers in US sanctioned countries.  Further details of legal matters are not 
provided to avoid the potential of seriously prejudicing the Group's stance in law.  Amounts unused and reversed 
only arise when the matter is formally settled or when a material change in the litigation action occurs where legal 
advice confirms lower amounts need to be retained to cover the exposure. 
 
As a consequence of primarily legacy activities a small number of sites in the Group are subject to environmental 
remediation actions, which in all cases are either agreed formally with relevant local and national authorities and 
agencies or represent management's view of the likely outcome having taken appropriate expert advice and 
following consultation with appropriate authorities and agencies.  Amounts of £5 million (2014: £3 million) are 
provided.   
 
Utilisation of the claims and litigation provision due in more than one year is estimated as £5 million in 2017 and 
£5 million from 2018. 
 
Employee obligations 

Long service non-pension and other employee related obligations arising primarily in the Group's continental 
European subsidiaries amount to £21 million (2014: £23 million).  Utilisation of the provision due in more than one 
year is estimated as £6 million in 2017 and £12 million from 2018. 
 
Other 

Other provisions include £1 million (2014: £2 million) in relation to previous reorganisation arising from the 
Group’s strategic restructuring programmes and £8 million (2014: £11 million) relating to other customer and 
supplier exposures.  Utilisation of the provision due in more than one year is estimated as nil in 2017 and 
£2 million from 2018. 
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20 Share capital 

 

 
 Authorised Issued and Fully Paid 

 2015  2014  2015  2014  
 £m  £m  £m  £m  

Ordinary shares of 50p each 450  450  362  362  

     
 2015  2014  2015  2014  
 Number  Number  Number  Number  
 000s  000s  000s  000s  

Ordinary shares of 50p each     
At 1 January and 31 December  900,000  900,000  724,632  724,632  

 
 
 

  
21 Cash flow reconciliations   

  2015  2014  
 Cash generated from operations  £m  £m  

 Operating profit 324  289  
 Adjustments for:   
 Depreciation, impairment and amortisation of fixed assets   
  Charged to trading profit   
   Depreciation 218  216  
   Impairment -  4  
   Amortisation 43  32  
  Amortisation of non-operating intangible assets arising on business combinations 80  69  
  Impairment charges 71  69  
 Change in value of derivative and other financial instruments 122  209  
 Gains and losses on changes in Group structure 1  (24) 
 Amortisation of government capital grants (2) (2) 
 Net profits on sale and realisation of fixed assets (3) (2) 
 Charge for share-based payments 1  3  
 Movement in post-employment obligations (51) (65) 
 Change in amounts due from parent undertaking 55  175 
 Change in amounts due to parent undertaking (1) (1) 
 Change in inventories (33) (31) 
 Change in receivables 110  (76) 
 Change in payables and provisions 5  74  

  940  939  

    
 Movement in net debt   
 Movement in cash and cash equivalents (11) 132  
 Net movement in other borrowings and deposits (60) -  
 Costs associated with refinancing -  3  
 Movement on finance leases (2) -  
 Movement on cross currency interest rate swaps (43) (26) 
 Movement on other net investment hedges (11) -  
 Amortisation of debt issue costs (2) (3) 
 Currency variations  (16) 2  

 Movement in year (145) 108  
 Net debt at beginning of year (624) (732) 

 Net debt at end of year (769) (624) 

    
 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents   

 Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 299  319  
 Bank overdrafts included within "current liabilities - borrowings" (8) (2) 

 Cash and cash equivalents per cashflow 291  317  

    
 Cash outflow in respect of previous restructuring plans was £1 million (2014: £2 million).   
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22 Post-employment obligations   

  2015  2014  

 Post-employment obligations as at the year end comprise: £m  £m  

 Pensions - funded (977) (1,067) 

  - unfunded (505) (564) 

 Medical - funded (30) (28) 

  - unfunded (46) (52) 

  (1,558) (1,711) 
    

 The Group’s pension arrangements comprise various defined benefit and defined contribution schemes throughout the world.  In 
addition, in the USA and UK various plans operate which provide members with post-retirement medical benefits.  The Group’s 
post-employment plans in the UK, USA and Germany together account for 98% of plan assets and 98% of plan liabilities.  
 
The Group’s post-employment plans include both funded and unfunded arrangements.  The UK pension schemes are funded, 
albeit in deficit in common with many other UK pension schemes, with the scheme assets held in trustee administered funds.  The 
German and other European plans are generally unfunded, with pension payments made from company funds as they fall due, 
rather than from scheme assets.  The USA includes a combination of funded and unfunded pension and medical plans, whilst 
Japan also operates a funded pension plan.  
 
The Group’s defined benefit pension arrangements provide benefits to members in the form of an assured level of pension payable 
for life.  The level of benefits provided typically depends on length of service and salary levels in the years leading up to retirement.  
In the UK and Germany, pensions in payment are generally updated in line with inflation, whereas in the USA pensions generally 
do not receive inflationary increases once in payment.  The UK and German schemes are closed to new entrants, whilst the USA 
schemes are closed to future accrual. 
 
Independent actuarial valuations of all major defined benefit scheme assets and liabilities were carried out at 31 December 2015.  
The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related service cost elements were measured using the projected unit 
credit method. 
 

(a)   Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates 
 
Key assumptions: 

  UK     

  GKN1 GKN2 Americas Europe ROW 

  % %  %   %   %  

 2015      

 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries (past/future service) n/a 4.10/4.15 n/a 2.50 - 

 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions 3.05 3.10 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Discount rate (past/future service) 3.55 3.85/4.05 4.30 2.40 0.80 

 Inflation assumption (past/future service) 3.05 3.10/3.15 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Rate of increase in medical costs:      

  Initial/long term 5.4/5.4 7.0/5.0 n/a n/a 

 2014      

 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries (past/future service) n/a 4.05/4.10 n/a 2.50 - 

 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions 3.05 3.05 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Discount rate (past/future service) 3.25 3.55/3.80 3.90 1.90 0.80 

 Inflation assumption (past/future service) 3.05 3.05/3.10 n/a 1.75 n/a 

 Rate of increase in medical costs:      

  Initial/long term 5.5/5.5 7.0/5.0 n/a n/a 

 

The assumptions table above specifies separate assumptions for past and future service in relation to the UK pension scheme.  
This approach is consistent with that taken in 2014, whereby a different, “future service” set of assumptions will be used to 
determine the service cost for the following year.  This reflects evolving market practice and is based on the premise that active 
members of the scheme are younger and have, on average, longer remaining life expectancy than an average scheme member.  
Given that yield curves typically rise over time, this longer duration implies a higher discount rate for the “active” sub-set of 
members which has been set at 4.05%, as at 31 December 2015.  
 
The UK schemes each use a duration specific discount rate derived from the Mercer pension discount yield curve, which is based 
on corporate bonds with two or more AA-ratings.  The European discount rate was calculated with reference to Aon Hewitt’s 
German discount rate yield curve.  For the USA, the discount rate referenced the Citigroup intermediate pension liability index, the 
Merrill Lynch US corporate AA 10+ years index and the Towers Watson Rate:LINK benchmark.  The approach taken in each 
territory is consistent with prior year. 
 
The underlying mortality assumptions for the major schemes, are as follows: 
 

 

United Kingdom 
The key current year mortality assumptions for both GKN1 and GKN2 use S1NA year of birth mortality tables (adjusted for GKN 
experience) with CMI 2013 improvements and a 1.25% p.a. long term improvement trend.  These assumptions give the following 
expectations for each scheme: for GKN1 a male aged 65 lives for a further 21.8 years and a female aged 65 lives for a further 23.9 
years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live a further 23.6 years from age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 
25.8 years from age 65.  For GKN2 a male aged 65 lives for a further 22.8 years and a female aged 65 lives for a further 25.2 
years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live a further 24.7 years from age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 
27.1 years from age 65. 
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(a)   Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued) 

 

 

Overseas 
In the USA, RP-2014 tables have been used whilst in Germany the RT2005-G tables have been used.  In the USA, the longevity 
assumption for a male aged 65 is that he lives a further 21.2 years (female 23.2 years) whilst in Germany a male aged 65 lives for a 
further 18.6 years (female 22.8 years).  The longevity assumption for a USA male currently aged 45 is that he also lives for a further 
22.9 years once attaining 65 years (female 24.9 years), with the German equivalent assumption for a male being 21.5 years 
(female 25.5 years).  These assumptions are based on the prescribed tables, rather than GKN experience. 
 

 

Assumption sensitivity analysis 
The impact of a one percentage point movement in the primary assumptions (longevity:  1 year) on the defined benefit obligations 
as at 31 December 2015 is set out below: 
 

  UK  Americas  Europe  ROW  

  
Liabilities  

£m  
Liabilities  

£m 
Liabilities  

£m  
Liabilities  

£m 

 Discount rate +1% 468  35  75  3  

 Discount rate -1% (603) (43) (96) (2) 

 Rate of inflation +1% (532) (1) (62) -  

 Rate of inflation -1% 408  -  52  -  

 Life expectancy +1 year (102) (8) (18) -  

 Life expectancy -1 year 102  8  16  -  

 Health cost trend +1% (2) (2) -  -  

 Health cost trend -1% 1  1  -  -  

  

 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on isolated changes in each assumption, whilst holding all other assumptions constant.  
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and there is likely to be some level of correlation between movements in different assumptions.  
In addition, these sensitivities relate only to potential movement in the defined benefit obligations.  The assets, including derivatives 
held by the schemes, have been designed to mitigate the impact of these movements to some extent, such that the movements in 
the defined benefit obligations shown above would, in practice be partly offset by movements in asset valuations.  However, the 
above sensitivities are shown to illustrate at a high level the scale of sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to key actuarial 
assumptions.   
 
The same actuarial methods have been used to calculate these sensitivities as are used to calculate the relevant balance sheet 
values, and have not changed compared to the previous period. 
 

 Judgements and estimates 
 

 

Buy In 
During the year, a second bulk annuity pensioner “buy-in” was transacted in relation to the UK pension scheme, GKN 1, as a result 
of which an increased proportion of GKN 1 liabilities are now fully insured.  The transaction involved a payment to Rothesay Life of 
£53 million, made from GKN 1’s assets in addition to a refund due from the previous policy following the pension increase exchange 
exercise (see below).  The additional bulk annuity covers £47 million of pensioner liabilities valued on an IAS 19 accounting basis, 
as at 31 December 2015. 
 

 

Pension partnership interest 
During the year the Group has paid £30 million (2014: £30 million) to the two UK pension schemes through its pension partnership 
arrangement and this is included within the amount of contributions/benefits paid.   
 

 

Pension increase exchange 
A pension increase exchange was completed in the UK scheme, GKN 1, during 2015.  This involved pensioners being offered a no 
obligation opportunity to exchange future inflationary increases to their pensions in return for a one-off rise with no future increases.  
Due to differences in the inflation assumptions between those used to determine the offer and those used for accounting purposes, 
the increase has led to a past service credit in the income statement of £7 million.  This was partially offset by a past service cost of 
£1 million in the GKN 2 scheme in respect of early retirement funding for a small number of members. 
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 The amounts included in operating profit are: 
   
  Total  
  £m  

 2015  
 Current service cost and administrative expenses (53) 
 Past service credit – net 4  

  (49) 

 2014  
 Current service cost and administrative expenses (52) 
 Settlements/curtailment 9  

  (43) 

  

 The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are: 
  2015  

  UK  Americas  Europe  ROW  Total  2014  
  £m   £m  £m   £m   £m  £m  

 Present value of unfunded obligations  (15) (39) (495) (2) (551) (616) 
 Present value of funded obligations  (3,219) (280) (36) (32) (3,567) (3,722) 
 Fair value of plan assets 2,322  186  33  19  2,560  2,627  

 Net obligations recognised in the balance sheet (912) (133) (498) (15) (1,558) (1,711) 

  

 

In the UK, the Group is required to complete a statutory valuation of its pension schemes at least every three years and to agree a 
recovery plan to eliminate any resulting deficit.  At the date of the last valuation on 5 April 2013 the Group’s UK pension funding 
deficit was lower than the equivalent UK accounting deficit. 
 
Additional UK deficit recovery payments of £10 million per year commenced in 2014 and the potential for further additional 
payments commences in 2016, contingent upon asset performance.  In addition the Group has an obligation to pay £2 million per 
year until 2017 to UK scheme, GKN1, to cover a funding requirement arising from the £123 million bulk annuity purchase 
transacted in 2014. 
 
The combined contribution for deficit funding and future accrual expected to be paid by the Group during 2016 to the UK schemes 
is £44 million.  In addition, a distribution of £30 million is expected to be made from the UK pension partnership to the UK schemes 
in the first half of 2016, which brings the total expected UK cash requirement for 2016 to £74 million.  The expected 2016 
contribution to overseas schemes is £26 million.   

  
 Cumulative remeasurement of defined benefit plan differences recognised in equity are as follows: 
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 At 1 January (1,212) (727) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 139  (485) 

 At 31 December (1,073) (1,212) 

    
 Movement in schemes' obligations (funded and unfunded) during the year 
  UK  Americas   Europe  ROW  Total  
  £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 At 1 January 2015 (3,382) (331) (593) (32) (4,338) 
 Current service cost (40) -  (8) (2) (50) 
 Past service credit/(cost) 6  -  (2) -  4  
 Businesses acquired -  -  (7) -  (7) 
 Settlements and curtailments -  -  1  -  1  
 Administrative expenses (2) (1) -  -  (3) 
 Interest  (115) (13) (11) -  (139) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 150  27  39  -  216  
 Benefits and administrative expenses paid 149  16  20  2  187  
 Currency variations -  (17) 30  (2) 11  

 At 31 December 2015 (3,234) (319) (531) (34) (4,118) 

 At 1 January 2014 (2,989) (290) (491) (33) (3,803) 
 Current service cost (37) (1) (9) (2) (49) 
 Settlements and curtailments -  9  -  -  9  
 Administrative expenses (2) (1) -  -  (3) 
 Interest  (130) (14) (16) -  (160) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (367) (54) (139) (1) (561) 
 Benefits and administrative expenses paid 143  39  22  2  206  
 Currency variations -  (19) 40  2  23  

 At 31 December 2014 (3,382) (331) (593) (32) (4,338) 
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 Movement in schemes' assets during the year      
  UK  Americas   Europe  ROW   Total  
   £m   £m   £m   £m   £m  

 At 1 January 2015 2,377  195  37  18  2,627  
 Interest  81  8  1  -  90  
 Settlements and curtailments -  -  (1) -  (1) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (64) (14) 1  -  (77) 
 Contributions by Group 75  4  -  2  81  
 Benefits paid (147) (16) (3) (2) (168) 
 Currency variations -  9  (2) 1  8 

 At 31 December 2015 2,322  186  33  19  2,560  

 At 1 January 2014 2,275  203  36  18  2,532  
 Interest  99  10  1  -  110  
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 70  1  4  1  76  
 Contributions by Group 75  7  1  2  85  
 Benefits paid (142) (37) (2) (2) (183) 
 Currency variations -  11  (3) (1) 7  

 At 31 December 2014 2,377  195  37  18  2,627  

  
 Remeasurement gains and losses in relation to schemes’ obligations are as follows 
  
  UK  Americas  Europe  ROW  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 2015      
 Experience gains and losses 2  5  (3) -  4  
 Changes in financial assumptions 148  15  42  -  205  
 Change in demographic assumptions -  7  -  -  7  

  150  27  39  -  216  

 2014      
 Experience gains and losses -  (5) -  -  (5) 
 Changes in financial assumptions (367) (31) (139) (1) (538) 
 Change in demographic assumptions -  (18) -  -  (18) 

  (367) (54) (139) (1) (561) 

  
 The fair values of the assets in the schemes were: 
  UK  Americas  Europe  ROW  Total  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 At 31 December 2015      
 Equities (inc. hedge funds) 855  82  -  10  947  
 Diversified growth funds 257  -  -  -  257  
 Bonds - government 361  41  -  6  408  
 Bonds - corporate 537  57  -  -  594  
 Property 135  -  -  -  135  
 Cash, derivatives and net current assets 1  6  -  1  8  
 Other assets 176  -  33  2  211  

  2,322  186  33  19  2,560  

 At 31 December 2014      
 Equities (inc. hedge funds) 936  93  -  8  1,037  
 Diversified growth funds 250  -  -  -  250  
 Bonds - government 349  27  -  6  382  
 Bonds - corporate 567  70  -  1  638  
 Property 121  -  -  -  121  
 Cash, derivatives and net current assets 9  5  -  -  14  
 Other assets 145  -  37  3  185  

  2,377  195  37  18  2,627  

  
 As at 31 December 2015, the equities in the UK asset portfolio were split 26% domestic (2014: 26%); 74% foreign (2014: 74%), 

whilst bond holdings were 88% domestic (2014: 91%) and 12% foreign (2014: 9%).  The equivalent proportions for the USA plans 
were:  equities 42% / 58% (2014: 41% / 59%); bonds 88% / 12% (2014: 91% / 9%).   
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(c) Defined benefit scheme – risk factors 
  
 Through its various post-employment pension and medical plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant 

of which are detailed below.  The Group’s focus is on managing the cash demands which the various pension plans place on the 
Group, rather than balance sheet volatility in its own right.  For funded schemes cash requirements are generally determined by 
funding valuations which are performed on a different basis from accounting valuations.  
 
Asset volatility: Plan liabilities are calculated using discount rates set with reference to bond yields (although the discount rate 
methodology differs for accounting and funding purposes).  If plan assets deliver a return which is lower than the discount rate, 
this will create or increase a plan deficit.  GKN’s various pension plans hold a significant proportion of equities and similar ‘growth 
assets’, which are expected to out-perform bonds in the long-term, albeit at the risk of short term volatility.   
 
As the plans mature, with a shorter time horizon to cope with volatility, the Group will gradually reduce holdings of growth assets 
in favour of increased matching assets (bonds and similar).  In the meantime, the Group considers that equities and similar 
assets are an appropriate means of managing pension funding requirements, given the long term nature of the liabilities and the 
strength of the Group to withstand volatility.  
 
Changes in bond yields: A decrease in bond yields will typically increase plan liabilities (and vice-versa), although this will be 
offset partially by an increase in the value of bonds held in the asset portfolios of the various plans.  The effect of changes in 
bond yields is more pronounced in unfunded schemes where there is no potential for an offsetting movement in asset values.    
 
Inflation risk: As UK and some European pension obligations are linked to inflation, higher inflation expectations will lead to 
higher liabilities, although caps are in place to protect against unusually high levels of inflation.  The UK asset portfolio includes 
some inflation linked bonds to provide an element of protection against this risk, whilst additional protection is provided by 
inflation derivatives.  
 
Member longevity: As the Group’s post-employment obligations are generally to provide benefits for the life of the member, 
increases in life expectancy will generally result in an increase in plan liabilities (and vice versa). 
 

(d) Defined benefit schemes – demographic factors 
  
 Weighted average duration is a measurement technique designed to represent the estimated average time to payment of all 

cash-flows arising as a result of defined benefit obligations (i.e. pension payments and similar).  The weighted average duration 
(years) of the defined benefit obligations in the UK, USA and Germany are as follows: 
 

   2015  2014  

 UK GKN 1 11  11  
  GKN 2 17  17  
 USA  13  13  
 Germany  14  16  

  
Defined benefit obligations are classified into those representing “active” members of a scheme or plan (i.e. those who are 
currently employed by the Group), “deferred” members (i.e. those who have accrued benefit entitlements, but who are no longer 
employed by the Group and are not yet drawing a pension) and “pensioner” members (ie. those who are currently in receipt of a 
pension).  Additional information regarding the average age, number of members and value of the defined benefit obligation in 
each of these categories for the UK, USA and Germany are given below:  
 

   Active Deferred Pensioner 

 
  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  

 UK GKN 1 -  -  -  53  6,839  102  78  18,712  746  
  GKN 2 46  5,743  738  52  6,743  718  72  7,231  915  
 USA  54  2,564  101  56  1,221  35  75  4,483  171  
 Germany  54  2,473  213  58  852  36  72  3,035  229  

  
 Within the UK, there are two pension schemes referred to as GKN1 and GKN2.  GKN1 is a mature scheme, comprised primarily 

of pensioner members, which is already at peak annual cash outflow (benefit payments); whilst GKN2 is less mature, with a 
larger active and deferred population.  Benefit payments from GKN2 are forecast to continue to rise until the mid 2030s, when 
they will peak, before beginning to decline. 

  
(e) Defined contribution schemes 
  

 
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes.  The charge to the income statement in the year was £42 million 
(2014: £35 million). 
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23 Contingent assets and liabilities  

  

 

Aside from an unrecognised contingent asset, referred to in note 6 in respect of Franked Investment 
Income, related to advance corporate tax payments and corporate tax paid on certain foreign 
dividends, there were no other material contingent assets at 31 December 2015 or 31 December 
2014. 

 
In the case of certain businesses, performance bonds and customer finance obligations have been 
entered into in the normal course of business.   
 

  

24 Operating lease commitments - minimum lease payments  

  

 The minimum lease payments which the Group is committed to make at 31 December are: 

  

  2015 2014 

   Vehicles,   Vehicles,  

   plant and   plant and  

  Property  equipment  Property  equipment  

  £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Payments under non-cancellable operating leases:      

 Within one year  39  16  30  13  

 Later than one year and less than five years 132  27  106  22  

 After five years 200  2  158  2  

  371  45  294  37  

  

25 Capital expenditure 

  

 

Contracts placed against capital expenditure sanctioned at 31 December 2015 which are not provided 
by subsidiaries amounted to £148 million property, plant and equipment, £20 million intangible assets 
(2014: £126 million property, plant and equipment, £19 million intangible assets) and the Group's 
share not provided by equity accounted investments amounted to £9 million property, plant and 
equipment, nil intangible assets (2014: £9 million property, plant and equipment, nil intangible assets). 

  

26 Related party transactions  

  

 

In the ordinary course of business, sales and purchases of goods take place between subsidiaries and 
equity accounted investment companies priced on an arm’s length basis.  Sales by subsidiaries to 
equity accounted investments in 2015 totalled £35 million (2014: £45 million).  The amount due at the 
year end in respect of such sales was £12 million (2014: £12 million).  Purchases by subsidiaries from 
equity accounted investments in 2015 totalled £7 million (2014: £5 million).  The amount due at the 
year end in respect of such purchases was £2 million (2014: £1 million). 

  

 

At 31 December 2015, a Group subsidiary had £10 million payable to equity accounted investments 
companies in respect of unsecured financing facilities bearing interest at 1 month LIBOR plus 1

/8% 

(2014: £7 million). 
 
During the year, a child of a member of key management was employed by a subsidiary company.  
The remuneration expense during the period of employment on an arm’s length basis amounted to 
£2,336 (2014: £6,815). 
 

27 Subsidiaries and other undertakings 

 

The subsidiary and other undertakings of the GKN Holdings plc at 31 December 2015 are shown in 
note 12 of the GKN Holdings plc company accounts.  Subsidiaries were included in the consolidation 
and are held indirectly by GKN Holdings plc through intermediate holding companies.  The 
undertakings located overseas operate principally in the country of incorporation.  The equity share 
capital of these undertakings is wholly owned by the GKN Group.  
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28 Business Combinations 
 Acquisition of Fokker Technologies Group B.V. 

 

GKN Aerospace acquired Stork Topco B.V. which owns Fokker Technologies Group B.V., a specialist 
global tier one aerospace supplier from Arle Capital on 28 October 2015.  The Group acquired 100% of 
the equity.  The entities acquired are together referred to as “Fokker”. 
 
Fokker is a leading global aerospace specialist that develops and manufactures highly engineered 
advanced aircraft systems and components for aircraft manufacturers and provides integrated 
maintenance services and products for aircraft owners and operators. Fokker is headquartered in the 
Netherlands and also operates facilities in Romania, Turkey, Canada, Mexico, USA, China, India and 
Singapore, employing approximately 4,900 people. 
 
Fokker has four divisions: aerostructures, electrical wiring systems, landing gear and services serving 
customers across commercial, military and business jet end markets and is a leader in advanced 
composites including thermoplastics and GLARE (glass-reinforced aluminium laminates).  Fokker also has 
strong electrical wiring technology. 
 
The following amounts represent a provisional determination of the fair value of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.  Final determination of the fair value of certain assets and liabilities will 
be completed within the one year measurement period as required by IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.  
The size and complexity of the Fokker acquisition along with proximity to the reporting date will 
necessitate the use of this measurement period to further analyse and assess a number of factors used in 
establishing the asset and liability fair values as of the acquisition date including contractual and 
operational factors underlying the customer related intangible assets, the assumptions underpinning 
certain provisions such as those for legal claims and the related tax impacts of any changes made.  Any 
potential adjustments could be material in relation to the preliminary values presented below. 
 

  £m  
 Intangible assets arising on business combinations  
  – marketing related  51  
  – customer related 177  
  – technology based 37  
 Operating intangible assets  
  – development costs 52  
 Property, plant and equipment 66  
 Investments  
  – equity accounted investments 16  
  – other investments 2  
 Loans (371) 
 Inventories 149  
 Trade and other receivables 186  
 Trade and other payables (249) 
 Government refundable advances (38) 
 Post-employment obligations (7) 
 Derivative financial instruments (68) 
 Provisions (33) 
 Deferred tax 38  
 Provisional goodwill 101  

  109  

 Satisfied by:  
 Fair value of consideration – cash and cash equivalents 109  
  

 
 

From the date of the acquisition to the balance sheet date, Fokker contributed £102 million to statutory 
sales and a £5 million loss within trading profit excluding acquisition related charges of £13 million.  If the 
acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2015 the Group’s statutory sales and trading profit for the 
year ended 31 December 2015 are estimated at £7,704 million and £650 million respectively. 
 

 

Acquisition related charges of £13 million have been recorded in the income statement within trading profit 
(see note 2 for details). 
 

 

Goodwill (which is not tax deductible) is attributable to the value of the assembled workforce, expected 
future synergies from combination with the Group’s existing Aerospace business and likelihood of future 
business awards. 
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Significant judgements, assumptions and estimates in the acquisition accounting for Fokker 
 
Valuation of intangible assets —methodology 
 
A fair value exercise was carried out in conjunction with third party experts and considered the existence 
of the intangible assets relevant and attributable to the business. 
 
The intangible assets inherent in Fokker’s customer relationships/contracts were valued using an excess 
earnings method.  This methodology places a value on the asset as a function of (a) management’s 
estimate of the expected cash flows arising from the customer contracts; (b) discount rates reflective of the 
risks inherent in the cash flows; and (c) a contributory charge attributable to assets needed to generate the 
operating cash flows.  An after tax discount rate of 10% to 12% was applied to the forecast cash flows. 
 
The tradename of Fokker was deemed to have measurable value as it is well recognised in its industry.  It 
has been valued using a relief from royalty methodology based on projected cash flows attributable to the 
tradename and an assumed royalty rate of 1% that would be charged if the name were subject to licence 
within a comparable trade situation and an appropriate discount rate (12%) reflecting inherent risk in the 
projected cash flows.  A total fair value of £51 million has been recognised for tradenames. 
 
The proprietary technology and know-how has been valued using a relief from royalty methodology.  The 
cash flow forecasts supporting this valuation reflect the future sales to be generated in conjunction with the 
technology.  The fair value attributed to proprietary technology represents the theoretical costs avoided by 
Fokker from not having to pay a licence fee for the technology.  The royalty rates used in the valuation 
were 2% to 4%, based on a review of licence agreements for comparable technologies in a similar 
segment.  An after tax discount rate of 11% was applied to the forecast cash flows, a rate that reflects the 
inherent risk within cash flows and is comparable with the weighted average cost of capital for the 
acquisition. 
 
The valuation of all intangible assets reflects the tax benefit of amortisation, which has meant a benefit 
assessed primarily with reference to the Netherland tax laws.   
 
In order to attribute value to pre-existing development costs a review of capitalised costs as compared 
with Group policy and an impairment exercise under IAS 36 was performed based on acquisition date 
information.  The value recognised for “operating intangible assets” together with the value recognised for 
customer related “intangible assets arising on business combinations” is supported by underlying contract 
valuations prepared under IFRS 3. 
 
Valuation of other assets and liabilities —methodology 
 
Adjustments were made to property, plant and equipment and investment balances to reflect fair values 
following external third party appraisal.   
 
Inventories acquired were assessed for scrap and obsolete items before being fair valued.  Inventories 
acquired have been valued at current replacement cost for raw materials and selling price, adjusted for 
costs of completion and disposal and associated margin, for finished goods and work-in-progress.  The 
fair value of the inventory uplift was £12 million. 
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Valuation of other assets and liabilities —methodology (continued) 
Provisions and liabilities include an amount in respect of a legal matter with the Department of Justice and 
other US regulators (see note 19), government refundable advances and other contractual obligations. 
 
A liability of £38 million is included in the acquisition balance sheet for a contractual requirement to repay 
refundable advances provided by the Netherlands Government under a risk sharing arrangement.  The 
liability has been valued based on forecast cash flows and effective interest rates. 
 
In addition a deferred tax asset of £92 million has been recognised in respect of previous taxable losses.  
This has been valued by reference to the expected future profitability of entities, together with an 
assessment of timing compared to restrictions under relevant jurisdictions. 

 
 
Other acquisition 

 

On 8 June 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the equity share capital of Sheets Manufacturing Inc 
(SMI).  SMI specialises in metallic spin forming and is a technology leader in the manufacture of aircraft 
engine inlet lip skins. 
 
The fair value of consideration was £9 million and comprises an initial cash payment of £6 million plus 
contingent consideration estimated at £3 million.  The range of the contingent consideration, based on 
achievement of specific technology milestones is between nil and £3 million.  The fair value of net assets 
acquired of £9 million comprises; property, plant and equipment of £1 million, receivables of £2 million, 
payables of £2 million, a technology based non-operating intangible asset of £6 million, a deferred tax 
liability of £1 million and goodwill of £3 million. 
 
A further £2 million was paid for acquisition of outstanding share capital in a previously equity accounted 
investment. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of GKN Holdings plc 
 

Report on the Company financial statements 
Our opinion 

In our opinion, GKN Holdings plc’s Company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’): 

 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 

What we have audited 

The financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the ‘Annual Report’), comprise: 

 

 the Balance sheet as at 31 December 2015; 

 the Statement of changes in equity; and  

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information. 
 

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the 
financial statements.  These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited. 

 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom 

Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and applicable law (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

 

Other required reporting 
Consistency of other information 

Companies Act 2006 opinion 

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

 

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting 

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK & Ireland)’) we are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion, information in the Annual Report is: 

 

 materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 

 apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Company acquired in 

the course of performing our audit; or 

 otherwise misleading. 

 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 
 

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with 

the accounting records and returns. 

 
We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

 

Directors’ remuneration 
Other Companies Act 2006 reporting 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration specified by law are not made.  We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.  
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of GKN Holdings plc

(continued)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the Directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities set out on page 6, the directors are responsible for

the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and

ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for

Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance

with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose

hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements

are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied

and adequately disclosed;

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming

our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to

provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of

controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material

inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect

based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we

become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of GKN Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December

201

Andrev Hammond (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Birmingham

2.5 April 2016
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Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2015 Notes 2015 2014

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 5 849 1,099

Deferred tax assets
3 81 104

930 1,203

Current assets
Amounts owed by subsidiaries

1,765 1,595

Current tax assets
3 1 14

1,766 1,609

Total assets
2,696 2,812

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings

7 (18) (15)

Trade and other payables 6 (18) (14)
(36) (29)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

7 (851) (853)

Post-employment obligations 9 (381) (445)
(1,232) (1,298)

Total liabilities
(1,268) (1,327)

Net assets
1,428 1,485

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

8 362 362

Share premium account
301 301

Retained earnings
477 534

Other reserves
288 288

Total equity
1,428 1,485

The financial statements on pages 65 to 82 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 21 April

2016. They were signed on its behalf by:

A C Walker
Director
Registration number: 66549
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2015 

 Notes 

Share  
capital  

£m  

Share  
premium  
account  

£m  

Retained  
earnings  

£m  

Other  
reserves  

£m  

Total  
equity  

£m  

At 1 January 2015  362  301  534  288  1,485  

Loss for the year  -  -  (75) -  (75) 

Other comprehensive        

 income/(expense)  -  -  18  -  18  

Total comprehensive income  -  -  (57) -  (57) 

At 31 December 2015  362  301  477  288  1,428  

At 1 January 2014  362  301  459  288  1,410  

Profit for the year  -  -  475  -  475  

Other comprehensive        

 income/(expense)  -  -  (100) -  (100) 

Total comprehensive income  -  -  375  -  375  

Dividends paid to equity shareholders 4 -  -  (300) -  (300) 

At 31 December 2014  362  301  534  288  1,485  

 
Other reserves represent merger reserves from previous transactions. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements 

 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation 

 The Company’s significant accounting policies, which have been applied consistently, are summarised below. 
 
Basis of preparation 

The separate financial statements (the “statements”) of the Company, incorporated and domiciled in the UK, have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) under Financial Reporting 
Standard 101, “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (FRS 101).  These statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis under the historical cost method except where other measurement bases are required to be applied 
under IFRS as set out below, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
 
The impact of the conversion from old UK GAAP to FRS 101 on equity, profit and other comprehensive income are 
disclosed in note 13. 
 
These statements have been prepared using all standards and interpretations required for financial periods beginning 
1 January 2015.  No standards or interpretations have been adopted before the required implementation date. 
 
The following exemptions have been applied in accordance with FRS 101, as the relevant disclosure is contained in 
the Group Financial Statements of GKN Holdings plc (further details can be obtained as disclosed in note 14): 
- Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’ (details of the 

number and weighted-average exercise prices of share options, and how the fair value of goods or services 
received was determined) 

- IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ 
- Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’ (disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used for 

fair value measurement of assets and liabilities) 
In addition the following exemptions have been applied in accordance with FRS 101: 
- Paragraph 38 of IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ comparative information requirements in respect of 

paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1. 
- The following paragraphs of IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’: 

- 10(d), (statement of cash flows) 
- 10(f) (a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an 

accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, 
or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements), 

- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS), 
- 38A (requirement for a minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow statements), 
- 38B-D (additional comparative information), 
- 40A-D (requirements for a third balance sheet) 
- 111 (cash flow statement information), and 
- 134-136 (capital management disclosures) 

- IAS 7, ‘Statement of cash flows’ 
- Paragraph 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ (requirement for 

the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued but is not yet 
effective) 

- Paragraph 17 of IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ (key management compensation) 
The requirements in IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions entered into between 
two or more members of a group. 

  

 Foreign currencies 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment of operation, determined having regard to the currency which mainly influences sales and input costs.  
The financial statement are presented in “Pounds Sterling” (£), which is also the Company’s functional currency. 
 
Transactions are translated at exchange rates approximating to the rate ruling on the date of the transaction except in 
the case of material transactions when actual spot rate may be used where it more accurately reflects the underlying 
substance of the transaction.  Where practicable, transactions involving foreign currencies are protected by forward 
contracts.  Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the 
balance sheet date.  Such transactional exchange differences are taken into account in determining profit before tax. 

  



GKN HOLDINGS PLC Registered Number: 66549 

Page 68 of 82 

 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

1 Accounting policies and presentation (continued) 

 Financial assets and liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recorded in arrangements where payments, or similar transfers of financial resources, are 
unavoidable or guaranteed.   
 
Borrowings are measured initially at fair value which usually equates to proceeds received and includes transaction 
costs.  Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and overdrafts together with highly liquid 
investments of less than 90 days maturity.  Other financial assets comprise investments with more than 90 days until 
maturity.  Unless an enforceable right of set-off exists and there is an intention to net settle, the components of cash 
and cash equivalents are reflected on a gross basis in the balance sheet. 
 
Other financial assets and liabilities, including short term receivables and payables, are initially recognised at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost less any impairment provision unless the impact of the time value of 
money is considered to be material. 

  

 Investments in subsidiaries and other undertakings 

Investments in subsidiaries and other undertakings are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
  
 Taxation 

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement unless they relate to items recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income when the related tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Full provision is made for deferred tax on all temporary differences resulting from the difference between the carrying 
value of an asset or liability in the consolidated financial statements and its tax base.  The amount of deferred tax 
reflects the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that they will be recovered against future taxable profits. 
 

  

 Pensions and post-employment benefits 

The Company’s pension arrangements comprise various defined benefit and defined contribution schemes.  
Contributions to externally funded defined benefit schemes are based on the advice of independent actuaries or in 
accordance with the rules of the schemes. 
 
The Company also operates a number of defined contribution and defined benefit arrangements which provide certain 
employees with defined post-employment healthcare benefits. 
 
The Group accounts for all post-employment defined benefit schemes through recognition of the schemes’ surpluses 
or deficits on the balance sheet at the end of each year.  Remeasurement of defined benefit plans is included in other 
comprehensive income.  Current and past service costs, curtailments and settlements are recognised within operating 
profit.  Interest charges on net defined benefit plans are recognised in other net financing charges. 
 
For defined contribution arrangements the cost charged to the income statement represents the Group’s contributions 
to the relevant schemes in the year in which they fall due. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

2 Profit and loss account 

 As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own Income 
Statement for the year.  The loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 was £75 million (2014: £475 million profit). 
 
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services to the Company was less than £0.1 million (2014: less than £0.1 million). 
 
The Directors received no remuneration for their services to the Company (2014: nil). 
 
One Director exercised share options over GKN plc shares during the year (2014: two). 

  
3 Taxation 

(a) Balance Sheet   
  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 Current tax assets 1  14  
 Deferred tax assets 81  104  

  82  118  

  

(b) Recognised deferred tax  
  

 The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are shown below: 

     

  Post-      

  employment  Tax     

  obligations  losses  Other   Total  

  £m  £m  £m   £m  

 At 1 January 2015 68  39  (3)  104  

 Included in the income statement (7) (5) -   (12) 

 Included in other comprehensive income  (11) -  -   (11) 

 At 31 December 2015 50  34  (3)  81  

 At 1 January 2014 46  45  (3)  88  

 Included in the income statement (7) (6) -   (13) 

 Included in other comprehensive income  29  -  -   29  

 At 31 December 2014 68  39  (3)  104  

  

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised where management projections indicate the future availability of taxable profits to 
absorb the deductions. 
 
‘Other’ deferred tax arises mainly in relation to items that are taxable or tax deductible in a different period than the 
income or expense is accrued in the accounts. 

  

(c) Changes in UK Corporation tax rates 

 

A reduction in the mainstream rate of UK corporation tax from 21% to 20% took effect from April 2015 which gives 
rise to an effective UK statutory tax rate of 20.25% for the year ended 31 December 2015.  Further adjustments to 
19% from 1 April 2017 and 18% from 1 April 2020 have been substantively enacted.  The 2016 Budget on the 16 
March 2016 announced a further reduction of the corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 April 2020. 
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 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

4 Dividends 
  

  
Paid or proposed in 

respect of  Recognised 

  
2015  

pence  
2014  

pence   

2015  
£m  

2014  
£m  

 2014 interim dividend paid -  41.4   -  300  

  -  41.4   -  300  
  

 No dividend in 2015 was payable. 
  
5 Investments in subsidiaries and other undertakings 

     

     £m  

 Cost      

 At 1 January 2015   1,099  

 At 31 December 2015   1,099  

 Accumulated impairment    

 At 1 January 2015   -  

 Impairment charge   (250) 

 At 31 December 2015   (250) 

 Net book amount at 31 December 2015    849  

 Net book amount at 31 December 2014   1,099  
  

 

Subsidiary and other undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2015 are disclosed in note 12. 
 
The impairment charge of £250 million follows a dividend receipt from one of the Company’s subsidiary undertakings, 
GKN Euro Investments Limited. 
 
Significant judgement and estimates 

Following an annual impairment review, management believe each of the Company’s investments is supported by its 
underlying net assets.  

  
6 Trade and other payables  

    

  2015 2014 
  Current  Current  
   £m  £m  

 Amounts owed to subsidiaries -  (1) 
 Accruals and deferred income (18) (13) 

  (18) (14) 

  

 
Amounts owed by/to subsidiaries are unsecured, accumulate interest in a range between 0% and 1.65%, have no 
fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand. 
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 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

7 Net Borrowings 

  2015 2014 

  Current  Non-current  Current  Non-current  
   £m  £m  £m  £m  

 Unsecured capital market borrowings     
  £450 million 5⅜% 2022 unsecured bond  -  (445) -  (445) 
  £350 million 6¾% 2019 unsecured bond   -  (349) -  (348) 
 Unsecured committed bank borrowings     
  European Investment Bank £80 million loan (16) (48) (16) (64) 
  KfW £15 million loan (3) (12) -  -  
 Unamortised issue costs - RCFs 1  3  1  4  

  (18) (851) (15) (853) 

  

 

Unsecured capital market borrowings include: an unsecured £350 million (2014: £350 million) 6¾% bond maturing in 
2019 less unamortised issue costs of £1 million (2014: £2 million) and an unsecured £450 million (2014: £450 million) 
5⅜% bond maturing in 2022 less unamortised issue costs of £5 million (2014: £5 million).   
 
Unsecured committed bank borrowings include £64 million (2014: £80 million) drawn under the Group’s European 
Investment Bank (EIB) unsecured facility which attracts a fixed interest rate of 4.1% per annum payable annually in 
arrears and a borrowing of £15 million (2014: nil) drawn against a KfW amortising unsecured facility which attracts a 
fixed interest of 1.65%.  On 22 June 2015, the Group repaid the first of five annual instalments of £16 million payable 
on the EIB facility.  There were no drawings (2014: nil) at the year end against the Group’s 2019 Committed 
Revolving Credit Facilities of £800 million (2014: £800 million).  Unamortised issue costs on the 2019 Committed 
Revolving Credit Facilities were £4 million (2014: £5 million). 
 
Amounts in respect of unsecured capital market and unsecured committed bank borrowings have fixed rates of 
interest until maturity.  Committed Revolving Credit Facilities have variable rates of interest.  
 
The Company’s activities form an integral part of the GKN plc Group’s strategy with regard to financial 
instruments.  The GKN plc Group’s objectives, policies and strategies with regard to financial instruments are 
disclosed in full in the financial statements of GKN plc. 

  
8 Share capital 

  
 Details of the share capital of GKN Holdings plc are contained within note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. 
  

9 Post-employment obligations   

  2015  2014  
 Post-employment obligations as at the year end comprise: £m  £m  
 Pensions - funded (381) (445) 
  (381) (445) 

  

 

The Company’s pension arrangements comprise defined benefit and defined contribution schemes.  The Company’s 
defined benefit pension scheme is funded, albeit in deficit in common with many other UK pension schemes, with the 
scheme assets held in trustee administered funds.  The Company’s defined benefit pension arrangements provide 
benefits to members in the form of an assured level of pension payable for life.  The level of benefits provided typically 
depends on length of service and salary levels in the years leading up to retirement.  Pensions in payment are 
generally updated in line with inflation and are closed to new entrants. 
 
In 2012, a single UK defined benefit pension scheme was split into two separate schemes (referred to as GKN1 and 
GKN2), each with different characteristics.  The GKN1 scheme does not qualify as a multi-employer arrangement and 
as at 30 September 2012 the Company assumed all obligations.  Consequently the defined benefit obligation was 
recognised on the Company balance sheet with subsequent defined benefit pension scheme accounting 
required.  The GKN2 scheme is a multi-employer arrangement, however, under FRS 101 assets and obligations have 
been allocated to the Company and are included on the Company’s balance sheet. 
 
An independent actuarial valuation of the defined benefit scheme assets and liabilities was carried out at 31 
December 2015.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and the past 
service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method.   
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 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

9 Post-employment obligations (continued)   
(a)   Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates 

 
Key assumptions: 

    UK 
     GKN1 GKN2 
     % % 
 2015      
 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries (past/future service)    n/a 4.10/4.15 
 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions    3.05 3.10 
 Discount rate (past/future service)    3.55 3.85/4.05 
 Inflation assumption (past/future service)    3.05 3.10/3.15 
 Rate of increase in medical costs:      
  Initial/long term   5.4/5.4 

 2014      
 Rate of increase in pensionable salaries (past/future service)    n/a 4.05/4.10 
 Rate of increase in payment and deferred pensions    3.05 3.05 
 Discount rate (past/future service)    3.25 3.55/3.80 
 Inflation assumption (past/future service)    3.05 3.05/3.10 
 Rate of increase in medical costs:      
  Initial/long term   5.5/5.5 
  

 

The assumptions table above specifies separate assumptions for past and future service in relation to the UK pension 
scheme.  This approach is consistent with that taken in 2014, whereby a different, “future service” set of assumptions 
will be used to determine the service cost for the following year.  This reflects evolving market practice and is based on 
the premise that active members of the scheme are younger and have, on average, longer remaining life expectancy 
than an average scheme member.  Given that yield curves typically rise over time, this longer duration implies a higher 
discount rate for the “active” sub-set of members which has been set at 4.05%, as at 31 December 2015.  
 
The UK schemes each use a duration specific discount rate derived from the Mercer pension discount yield curve, 
which is based on corporate bonds with two or more AA-ratings.   
 

  

 

The key current year mortality assumptions for both GKN1 and GKN2 use S1NA year of birth mortality tables 
(adjusted for GKN experience) with CMI 2013 improvements and a 1.25% p.a. long term improvement trend.  These 
assumptions give the following expectations for each scheme: for GKN1 a male aged 65 lives for a further 21.8 years 
and a female aged 65 lives for a further 23.9 years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live a further 23.6 years from 
age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 25.8 years from age 65.  For GKN2 a male aged 65 lives for 
a further 22.8 years and a female aged 65 lives for a further 25.2 years whilst a male aged 45 is expected to live a 
further 24.7 years from age 65 and a female aged 45 is expected to live a further 27.1 years from age 65. 
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 For the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

9 Post-employment obligations (continued)   

 

Defined benefit schemes – significant judgements, assumptions and estimates (continued) 
 

 

Assumption sensitivity analysis 

The impact of a one percentage point movement in the primary assumptions (longevity: 1 year) on the defined benefit 
obligations as at 31 December 2015 is set out below: 

     
Liabilities  

£m  

 Discount rate +1%    207  
 Discount rate -1%    (263) 
 Rate of inflation +1%    (231) 
 Rate of inflation -1%    178  
 Life expectancy +1 year    (58) 
 Life expectancy -1 year    57  
  

 

The above sensitivity analyses are based on isolated changes in each assumption, whilst holding all other 
assumptions constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and there is likely to be some level of correlation between 
movements in different assumptions.  In addition, these sensitivities relate only to potential movement in the defined 
benefit obligations.  The assets, including derivatives held by the schemes, have been designed to mitigate the impact 
of these movements to some extent, such that the movements in the defined benefit obligations shown above would, in 
practice be partly offset by movements in asset valuations.  However, the above sensitivities are shown to illustrate at 
a high level the scale of sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to key actuarial assumptions.   
 
The same actuarial methods have been used to calculate these sensitivities as are used to calculate the relevant 
balance sheet values, and have not changed compared to the previous period. 
 

 

Significant judgements and estimates 

 

 

The Company’s defined benefit pension scheme obligation arises as a result of its participation in the externally 
funded defined benefit Group pension arrangements of GKN plc.  The share of the obligation in relation to GKN2 is 
recognised by the Company based on the benefits accruing to current and historic members of the scheme that have 
been employed by the Company. 
 

 

Buy In 
During the year, a second bulk annuity pensioner “buy-in” was transacted in relation to the UK pension scheme, GKN 
1, as a result of which an increased proportion of GKN 1 liabilities are now fully insured.  The transaction involved a 
payment to Rothesay Life of £53 million, made from GKN 1’s assets in addition to a refund due from the previous 
policy following the pension increase exchange exercise (see below).  The additional bulk annuity covers £47 million of 
pensioner liabilities valued on an IAS 19 accounting basis, as at 31 December 2015. 

  

 

Pension partnership interest 
During the year the Group has paid £30 million (2014: £30 million) to the two UK pension schemes through its pension 
partnership arrangement and this is included within the amount of contributions/benefits paid.   

  

 

Pension increase exchange 
A pension increase exchange was completed in the UK scheme, GKN 1, during 2015.  This involved pensioners being 
offered a no obligation opportunity to exchange future inflationary increases to their pensions in return for a one-off 
rise with no future increases.  Due to differences in the inflation assumptions between those used to determine the 
offer and those used for accounting purposes, the increase has led to a past service credit in the income statement of 
£7 million.  This was partially offset by a past service cost of £1 million in the GKN 2 scheme in respect of early 
retirement funding for a small number of members. 
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9 Post-employment obligations (continued) 

(b) Defined benefit schemes - reporting 

  

 The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are: 

  2015 2014  
  £m  £m  

 Present value of funded obligations  (1,631) (1,738) 
 Fair value of plan assets 1,250  1,293  

 Net obligations recognised in the balance sheet (381) (445) 

  

 Cumulative remeasurement of defined benefit plan differences recognised in equity are as follows: 

  

  2015  2014  
  £m  £m  

 At 1 January (133) -  
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 29  (133) 

 At 31 December (104) (133) 

   
 Movement in schemes' assets and liabilities (funded and unfunded) during the year: 

  Assets Liabilities   Total  

  £m  £m  £m  

 At 1 January 2015 1,293  (1,738) (445) 

 Current service cost -  (1) (1) 

 Past service credit -  7  7  

 Administrative expenses -  (2) (2) 

 Interest  43  (57) (14) 

 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (38) 67  29  

 Contributions by Group 43  2  45  

 Benefits and administrative expenses paid (91) 91  -  

 At 31 December 2015 1,250  (1,631) (381) 

 At 1 January 2014 1,244  (1,583) (339) 
 Current service cost -  (1) (1) 
 Administrative expenses -  (1) (1) 
 Interest  53  (67) (14) 
 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 40  (173) (133) 
 Contributions by Group 43  -  43  
 Benefits and administrative expenses paid (87) 87  -  

 At 31 December 2014 1,293  (1,738) (445) 
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9 Post-employment obligations (continued)   
(b)   Defined benefit schemes – reporting (continued) 

  

 Remeasurement gains and losses in relation to the scheme’s obligations are as follows 

      Total  

       £m  

 2015      
 Changes in financial assumptions     67  

      67  

 2014      
 Changes in financial assumptions     (174) 

      (174) 

  
 The fair values of the assets in the scheme were: 
      Total  

       £m  

 At 31 December 2015      
 Equities (inc. hedge funds)     404  

 Diversified growth funds     85  

 Bonds - government     188  

 Bonds - corporate     342  

 Property     66  

 Cash, derivatives and net current assets     8  

 Other assets     157  

      1,250  

 At 31 December 2014      
 Equities (inc. hedge funds)     450  
 Diversified growth funds     84  
 Bonds - government     177  
 Bonds - corporate     386  
 Property     59  
 Cash, derivatives and net current assets     15  
 Other assets     122  

      1,293  

  
 As at 31 December 2015, the equities in the Company’s asset portfolio were split 27% domestic (2014: 27%); 73% 

foreign (2014: 73%), whilst bond holdings were 86% domestic (2014: 89%) and 14% foreign (2014: 11%).   
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9 Post-employment obligations (continued)   
(c) Defined benefit scheme – risk factors 

  
 Through its various post-employment pensions, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of 

which are detailed below.  The Company’s focus is on managing the cash demands which the various pension plans 
place on the Company, rather than balance sheet volatility in its own right.  For funded schemes cash requirements are 
generally determined by funding valuations which are performed on a different basis from accounting valuations.  
 
Asset volatility: Plan liabilities are calculated using discount rates set with reference to bond yields (although the 
discount rate methodology differs for accounting and funding purposes).  If plan assets deliver a return which is lower 
than the discount rate, this will create or increase a plan deficit.  The Company’s various pension plans hold a 
significant proportion of equities and similar ‘growth assets’, which are expected to out-perform bonds in the long-term, 
albeit at the risk of short term volatility.   
 
As the plans mature, with a shorter time horizon to cope with volatility, the Company will gradually reduce holdings of 
growth assets in favour of increased matching assets (bonds and similar).  In the meantime, the Company considers 
that equities and similar assets are an appropriate means of managing pension funding requirements, given the long 
term nature of the liabilities and the strength of the Company to withstand volatility.  
 
Changes in bond yields: A decrease in bond yields will typically increase plan liabilities (and vice-versa), although this 
will be offset partially by an increase in the value of bonds held in the asset portfolios of the various plans.  The effect 
of changes in bond yields is more pronounced in unfunded schemes where there is no potential for an offsetting 
movement in asset values.    
 
Inflation risk: As pension obligations are linked to inflation, higher inflation expectations will lead to higher liabilities, 
although caps are in place to protect against unusually high levels of inflation.  The asset portfolio includes some 
inflation linked bonds to provide an element of protection against this risk, whilst additional protection is provided by 
inflation derivatives.  
 
Member longevity: As the Company’s post-employment obligations are generally to provide benefits for the life of the 
member, increases in life expectancy will generally result in an increase in plan liabilities (and vice versa). 
 

(d) Defined benefit schemes – demographic factors 

  
 Weighted average duration is a measurement technique designed to represent the estimated average time to payment 

of all cash-flows arising as a result of defined benefit obligations (i.e. pension payments and similar).  The weighted 
average duration (years) of defined benefit obligations are as follows: 
 

   2015  2014  

 UK GKN1 11  11  
  GKN2 17  17  

  
Defined benefit obligations are classified into those representing “active” members of a scheme or plan (i.e. those who 
are currently employed by the Company), “deferred” members (i.e. those who have accrued benefit entitlements, but 
who are no longer employed by the Company and are not yet drawing a pension) and “pensioner” members who are 
currently in receipt of a pension.  Additional information regarding the average age, number of members and value of 
the defined benefit obligation in each of these categories in relation to the Group pension arrangements of GKN plc in 
which the Company participates is given below:  
 

   Active Deferred Pensioner 

 
  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  Age  Number  

Value  
(£m)  

 UK GKN1 -  -  -  53  6,839  102  78  18,712  746  
  GKN2 46  5,743  738  52  6,743  718  72  7,231  915  

  
 Benefit payments are forecast to continue to rise until the mid 2030s, when they will peak, before beginning to decline. 
  
10 Contingent assets and liabilities 

  
 At 31 December 2015 the Company had no contingent liabilities in respect of bank and other guarantees (2014: nil). In 

the case of certain businesses, performance bonds and customer finance obligations have been entered into in the 
normal course of business. 
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11 Controlling parties 

  

 

The immediate parent is GKN plc.  The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is GKN plc. 
 
The parent of the largest group in which these financial statements are consolidated is GKN plc.  Consolidated 
financial statements of GKN plc are available from PO BOX 55, Ipsley House, Ipsley Church Lane, Redditch, B98 0TL, 
which is also the registered office of the Company. 
 
The Company is the parent of the smallest group in which these results are consolidated.  The Company’s 
consolidated financial statements are available from the address above. 

  

12 Subsidiaries and other undertakings 

 

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated undertakings as at 31 December 2015 are given 
below. All undertakings are wholly owned by the Group unless stated otherwise. All subsidiaries were included in the 
consolidation.  Joint ventures and associated undertakings were included in the consolidation using the equity method 
of accounting.  All joint ventures are managed pursuant to the terms set out in the applicable joint venture contract 
agreement.  The undertakings located overseas operate principally in the country of incorporation.   
 

  

 
Name Country of Incorporation 

Class of shares held/ 
interest 

 Transmisiones Homocineticas Argentinas SA (49%) Argentina Ordinary B
1
 

 Unidrive Pty Ltd (60%) Australia Ordinary 

 GKN Service Austria GmbH Austria Ordinary 

 Société Anonyme Belge de Constructions Aéronautiques (43.57%) Belgium Ordinary 

 GKN Aerospace Transparency Systems do Brasil Ltda Brazil Quota capital 

 GKN do Brasil Limitada Brazil Quota capital 

 GKN Sinter Metals Ltda Brazil Quota capital 

 GKN Stromag Brasil Equipamentos Ltda Brazil Quota capital 

 Fokker Elmo Canada Inc Canada Common stock 

 GKN Sinter Metals St Thomas Ltd Canada Common stock 

 Fokker Elmo (Langfang) Electrical Systems Co. Ltd China Registered investment 

 GKN China Holding Co Ltd China Registered investment 

 GKN Danyang Industries Company Limited China Registered investment 

 GKN Power Solutions (Liuzhou) Company Limited China Registered investment 

 GKN Sinter Metals Yizheng Co Ltd China Registered investment 

 GKN (Taicang) Co Ltd China Registered investment 

 GKN Zhongyuan Cylinder Liner Company Limited (59%) China Registered investment 

 Lianyungang GKN Hua Ding Wheels Co Ltd (80%) China Registered investment 

 Shanghai GKN Driveline Sales Co Ltd (49%)  China Registered investment 

 Shanghai GKN HUAYU Driveline Systems Company Limited (50%)
2
 China Registered investment 

 Transejes Transmisiones Homocineticas de Colombia SA (49%) Colombia Ordinary  

 GKN Stromag Brno s.r.o Czech Republic Ordinary  

 GKN Walterscheid Service & Distribution A/S Denmark Ordinary  

 GKN Wheels Nagbol A/S Denmark Ordinary  

 Automotive Group Services France Ordinary  

 GKN Automotive SAS France Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Ribemont SARL France Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline SA (99.99%) France Ordinary  

 GKN Freight Services EURL France Ordinary  

 GKN Land Systems SAS France Ordinary  

 GKN Service France SAS France Ordinary  

 GKN Stromag France S.A.S France Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Deutschland GmbH Germany Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Deutschland GmbH Germany Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline International GmbH Germany Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Trier GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Freight Services GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Gelenkwellenwerk Kaiserslautern GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Holdings Deutschland GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Service International GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Sinter Metals Components GmbH Germany Ordinary 
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12 Subsidiaries and other undertakings (continued) 

 
Name Country of Incorporation 

Class of shares held/ 
interest 

 GKN Sinter Metals Engineering GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Sinter Metals Filters GmbH Radevormwald Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Sinter Metals GmbH Radevormwald Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Sinter Metals GmbH, Bad Bruckenau Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Sinter Metals GmbH, Bad Langensalza Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Sinter Metals Holding GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Stromag AG Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Stromag Dessau GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Stromag Holding GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Walterscheid Getriebe GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 GKN Walterscheid GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 Hoeganaes Corporation Europe GmbH Germany Ordinary 

 Drivetech Accessories Limited India Ordinary  

 Fokker Elmo SASMOS Interconnection Systems Limited (49%)
3
 India Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline (India) Limited (97.03%) India Ordinary  

 GKN Land Systems India Private Limited India Ordinary  

 GKN Sinter Metals Private Limited India Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Beshel Private Joint Stock Company (59.99%) Iran, Islamic Republic of Ordinary  

 Ipsley Insurance Limited Isle of Man Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Brunico SpA Italy Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Firenze SpA Italy Ordinary  

 GKN Italia SpA Italy Ordinary  

 GKN Service Italia SpA Italy Ordinary  

 GKN Sinter Metals SpA Italy Ordinary  

 GKN Wheels Carpenedolo SpA Italy Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Japan Ltd Japan Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Tochigi Holdings KK Japan Ordinary  

 Matsui-Walterscheid Ltd (40%)
4
 Japan Common stock 

 GKN Finance Limited Jersey Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Korea Limited Korea, Republic of Common stock 

 GKN Driveline Malaysia Sdn Bhd (68.42%) Malaysia Ordinary  

 FAE Aerostructures SA de CV Mexico Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace San Luis Potosi S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico Fixed equity  

 GKN Driveline Celaya SA de CV (99.85%) Mexico Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Mexico Services SA de CV (98%) Mexico Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Mexico Trading SA de CV (98%) Mexico Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Villagran SA de CV (98%) Mexico Ordinary  

 Business Park Aviolanda B.V. (20%) Netherlands Ordinary 

 Cooperative Delivery of Retrokits (CDR) V.O.F. (50%)
5
 Netherlands Registered investment 

 Fabriek Slobbengors Beheer B.V. (49%)
6
 Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fabriek Slobbengors C.V. (49%)
7
 Netherlands Registered investment 

 Fokker Aerospace B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Aerostructures B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Aircraft Services B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker (CDR) B.V. Netherlands Ordinary 

 Fokker Elmo B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Engineers & Contractors B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Landing Gear B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Procurement Combination B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Services B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Technologies Group B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Technologies Holding B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 Fokker Technology B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Netherlands B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 GKN Service Benelux BV Netherlands Ordinary  

 GKN UK Holdings BV Netherlands Ordinary  

 Structural Laminates Industries B.V. Netherlands Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Norway AS Norway Ordinary  

 Kongsberg Technology Training Centre AS (50%)
8
 Norway Ordinary  

 Kongsberg Terotech AS (33.33%)
9
 Norway Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Polska Sp z o o Poland Ordinary  

 GKN Service Polska Sp. z o.o Poland Ordinary  

 FOAR S.R.L. (49%)
10

 Romania Ordinary  

 Fokker Engineering Romania S.R.L. Romania Ordinary  

 Hoeganaes Corporation Europe SA Romania Ordinary  
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12 Subsidiaries and other undertakings (continued) 

 
Name Country of Incorporation 

Class of shares held/ 
interest 

 Driveline Systems (RUS) LLC Russian Federation Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Togliatti LLC Russian Federation Ordinary  

 GKN Engineering (RUS) LLC Russian Federation Ordinary  

 Fokker Services Asia Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Slovenija d o o Slovenia Ordinary  

 GKN Sinter Metals Cape Town (Pty) Limited South Africa Ordinary  

 GKN Ayra Servicio, SA Spain Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Vigo, SA Spain Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Zumaia, SA Spain Ordinary  

 Stork Prints Iberia SA Spain Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Applied Composites AB Sweden Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Sweden AB Sweden Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Köping AB Sweden Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Service Scandinavia AB Sweden Ordinary  

 GKN Sinter Metals AB Sweden Ordinary  

 GKN Stromag Scandinavia AB Sweden Ordinary  

 GKN Sweden Holdings AB Sweden Ordinary  

 Industrigruppen "IG" JAS AB (20%) Sweden Ordinary  

 Taiway Limited (36.25%) Taiwan Common stock 

 GKN Aerospace Transparency Systems (Thailand) Limited Thailand Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline (Thailand) Limited Thailand Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Manufacturing Ltd Thailand Ordinary  

 Fokker Elmo Havacilik Sanayi Ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi Turkey Ordinary  

 GKN Eskisehir Automotive Products Manufacture and Sales A.S. Turkey Ordinary  

 A. P. Newall & Company Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Alder Miles Druce Limited* United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Ball Components Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Birfield Limited* United Kingdom Ordinary  

 British Hovercraft Corporation Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Chassis Systems Limited (50%)
11

 United Kingdom Ordinary  

 F.P.T. Industries Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 FAD (UK) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Firth Cleveland Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Transparency Systems (Kings Norton) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Transparency Systems (Luton) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Automotive Limited United Kingdom Ordinary and preference  

 GKN AutoStructures Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Birfield Extrusions Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Bound Brook Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Building Services Europe Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN CEDU Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Composites Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Computer Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Countertrade Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Defence Holdings Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Defence Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Birmingham Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Mexico (UK) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Driveline Service Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Euro Investments Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN EVO eDrive Systems Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Export Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Fasteners Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Finance (UK) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Firth Cleveland Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 
GKN Freight Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary and cumulative 

preference  

 GKN Group Pension Trustee (No.2) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Group Pension Trustee Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 
GKN Group Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary and redeemable 

preference
12

   

 GKN Hardy Spicer Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

    

 GKN Hybrid Power Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  
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12 Subsidiaries and other undertakings (continued) 

 
Name Country of Incorporation 

Class of shares held/ 
interest 

 GKN Industries Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 G.K.N. International Trading (Holdings) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 

 GKN Investments LP
13

 United Kingdom Registered investment  

 GKN Land Systems Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Marks Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN OffHighway Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Overseas Holdings Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Pistons Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 G.K.N. Powder Met. Limited United Kingdom Ordinary 

 GKN Quest Trustee Limited* United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Sankey Finance Limited United Kingdom Ordinary and deferred  

 GKN Sankey Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN SEK Investments Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Service UK Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Sheepbridge Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Sheepbridge Stokes Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Sinter Metals Holdings Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Sinter Metals Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Stromag UK Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Technology Limited* United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Thompson Chassis Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Trading Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN UK Investments Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN (United Kingdom) public limited company* United Kingdom Ordinary 

 GKN U.S. Investments Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN USD Investments Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Ventures Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Aerospace (Avonmouth) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 
GKN Westland Aerospace Advanced Materials Limited United Kingdom Ordinary and convertible 

preference 

 GKN Westland Aerospace Aviation Support Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Aerospace Holdings Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Design Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Overseas Holdings Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Guest, Keen and Nettlefolds, Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Laycock Engineering Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 P.F.D. Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Raingear Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Rigby Metal Components Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Ryvoan Limited (32.3%) United Kingdom Ordinary  

 
Rzeppa Limited United Kingdom Ordinary and redeemable 

preference 

 Sheepbridge Stokes Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Westland Group plc United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Westland Group Services Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Westland System Assessment Limited United Kingdom Ordinary  

 Aerotron AirPower Inc United States Common stock 

 Fokker Aerostructures Inc United States Common stock 

 Fokker Elmo Inc United States Common stock 

 Fokker Services Inc United States Common stock 

 GENIL, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Aerostructures, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Bandy Machining, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Camarillo, Inc. United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Chem-tronics Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Cincinnati, Inc. United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Monitor, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Muncie, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace New England, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Newington LLC
14

 United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace North America, Inc United States Common stock 

 GKN Aerospace Precision Machining, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Aerospace Services Structures Corporation United States Common stock 

 GKN Aerospace South Carolina, Inc United States Common stock 
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12 Subsidiaries and other undertakings (continued) 

 
Name Country of Incorporation 

Class of shares held/ 
interest 

 GKN Aerospace Transparency Systems Inc United States Common Stock  

 
GKN Aerospace US Holdings LLC15 United States Membership interest (no 

share capital) 

 GKN Aerospace, Inc United States Common Stock  

 GKN America Corp United States Common stock  

 GKN Armstrong Wheels, Inc United States Ordinary 

 GKN Driveline Bowling Green, Inc United States Common stock 

 
GKN Driveline Newton LLC

16
 United States Membership interest (no 

share capital) 

 GKN Driveline North America, Inc United States Common stock 

 GKN Freight Services, Inc United States Common stock 

 GKN North America Investments Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN North America Services, Inc United States Common stock 

 GKN Rockford Inc United States Ordinary  

 
GKN Sinter Metals, LLC

17
 United States Membership interest (no 

share capital) 

 GKN Stromag Inc United States Common stock 

 GKN Walterscheid, Inc United States Ordinary  

 GKN Westland Aerospace, Inc United States Common stock 

 Hoeganaes Corporation United States Common stock 

 
XIK LLC

18
 United States Membership interest (no 

share capital) 

 GKN Driveline Uruguay SA Uruguay Ordinary  

 

 

* indicates undertakings held directly by the Company. All other undertakings are held indirectly through intermediate holding companies.  

 

1 100% of the Ordinary Class B shares with total ownership of 49% in the company. 

2 Principal place of business is  No. 900 KangShen Road, KangQiao Industrial Zone, Pudong, Shanghai 201315, China 

3 Company’s last financial year ended 31 March 2015 

4  Company’s last financial year ended 31 March 2015 

5  Principal place of business is Industrieweg 4, 3351 LB, Papendrecht, Netherlands 

6  Principal place of business is Markt 22, 3351 PB, Papendrecht, Netherlands 

7  Principal place of business is Markt 22, 3351 PB, Papendrecht, Netherlands 

8  Principal place of business is Kirkegårdsveien 45, 3616 Kongsberg, Norway 

9  Principal place of business is Kirkegårdsveien 45, 3616 Kongsberg, Norway 

10 Principal place of business is Str. Condorilor 9, 600302, Bacau, Romania 

11 Principal place of business is Hadley Castle Works, Telford, Shropshire, TF1 6AA 

12 The redeemable preference shares are held directly by the Company; the ordinary shares are held indirectly through an intermediate holding company. 

13 Registered office address is 15 Atholl Crescent, Edinburgh, EH3 8HA, Scotland. The partnership is controlled by and its results are consolidated by the Group, as such 

advantage has been taken of the exemption set out in regulation 7 of the Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 

14 Principal place of business is 179 Louis Street , Newington CT 06111, USA 

15 Principal place of business is PO Box 55, Ipsley House, Ipsley Church Lane, Redditch, Worcestershire, B98 0TL, England  

16 Principal place of business is 1848 GKN Way, Newton NC 28658, USA 

17 Principal place of business is 2200 North Opdyke Road, Auburn Hills MI 48326, USA 

18 Principal place of business is 2715 Davey Road, Suite 300, Woodridge, Illinois , 60517-5064, USA
 

13 Impact of transition to FRS 101 

 

This is the first year the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 
101, “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (FRS 101).  The last financial statements under “old” UK GAAP were for the 
year ended 31 December 2014.  The date of transition to FRS 101 was 1 January 2014.  Set out below are the overall 
FRS 101 transition reconciliations which reconcile total equity positions as at 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014 
and both profit after taxation and comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

  

(a) Reconciliation of total equity  

  31 December  1 January  

  2014  2014  

  £m  £m  

 Shareholders’ fund under old UK GAAP 1,708  1,560  

 Differences increasing/(decreasing) reported shareholders’ funds:   

  Post-employment obligations (275) (184) 

  Taxation 52  34  

 Total equity under FRS 101 1,485  1,410  
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13 Impact of transition to FRS 101 (continued) 

(b) Reconciliation of profit after tax   

   2014  

   £m  

 Profit for the financial year under old UK GAAP  492  

 Trading profit charge from net defined benefit plans  (2) 

 Interest charge on net defined benefit plans  (15) 

   475  

    

(c) Reconciliation of total comprehensive income   

   2014  

   £m  

 Total comprehensive income/(expense) under old UK GAAP  448  

 Differences increasing/(decreasing) reported comprehensive income/(expense):   

  Differences in profit after taxation  (17) 

  Remeasurement of defined benefit plans  (74) 

  Taxation  18  

 Total comprehensive income under FRS 101  375  

  

 
Preparation of the financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 has resulted in the following adjustments on 
transition: 

 
(i) The Company’s liability in relation to its participation in the externally funded defined benefit Group pension 

arrangements of GKN plc has been recognised in accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits.’ 

 
(ii) The resulting tax impact of the adjustments detailed above has been recognised in accordance with IAS 12 

‘Income taxes.’ 

  

14 Notes to FRS 101 transition statements  

 

In preparing these financial statements in accordance with FRS 101, the Company has applied the mandatory 
exceptions and certain of the optional exemptions from full retrospective application of IFRS. The applicable optional 
exemptions from full retrospective application elected for by the Company were as follows: 

  

(a) Employee benefits exemption 

 All cumulative actuarial gains and losses as at 1 January 2014 have been recognised. 

  

(b) Estimates 

 

The mandatory exception from full retrospective application has been applied by the Company related to estimates 
where under IFRS estimates at 1 January 2014 should be consistent with estimates made for the same date under 
previous GAAP, unless there is evidence that those estimates were in error.  No changes to estimates have been 
made. 

 


